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The annual and special meeting 
of WesternZagros will be held on 
Wednesday, June 4, 2014, at 3:30 p.m. 
in Meeting Rooms No. 1 and 2, plus fifteen 
level, at the Ernst & Young Tower located 
at 440 – 2nd Avenue S.W., Calgary, 
Alberta, T2P 5E9.

This annual report contains forward-looking 
statements and actual results may differ 
materially from what is anticipated by 
WesternZagros. See the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis section of this report, 
beginning on page 19, for a full description  
of the meaning of forward-looking statements 
and the factors that could impact results. 

Terms related to resource classifications 
referred to in this annual report are based on 
the definitions and guidelines in the Canadian 
Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook. For a full 
explanation of these definitions and guidelines, 
please see the WesternZagros Annual 
Information Form dated March 13, 2014,  
filed on www.sedar.com.





Letter to 
Shareholders 

After nine years of successful 

exploration in the Kurdistan Region  

of Iraq, WesternZagros is transitioning 

from frontier explorer to development 

company, from a prospector to a 

producer. With the approval of our 

Declaration of Commerciality for the 

Sarqala Discovery by the Kurdistan 

Regional Government (KRG) in 

February of this year, we are working 

to convert our significant light oil 

discoveries into near-term production 

and cash flow that will help fuel the 

futures of the people of the Kurdistan 

Region and Iraq, as well as our 

shareholders and our employees.  

Our target is to be producing 10,000 

barrels of light, low sulphur crude oil 

per day in the second half of 2014,  

and that is just the beginning. 

Our goal, and the objective of all 

exploration companies, is to produce oil 

and monetize discoveries. Over the last 

six years we’ve drilled and made several 

discoveries. In fact, almost every well 

we have drilled has found oil or gas or 

both. Our discoveries have helped us 

define two large oil and natural gas 

fields. Now is the time to capitalize on 

these fields, coincident with the 

Kurdistan Region’s plans to ramp up its 

oil and gas demands for both domestic 

and export use over the coming years. 

The transition to production is the 

next stage in the natural evolution of 

our company and marks the start of 

an exciting new era. We are in the 

midst of a dynamic shift in our 

business as we move from drilling 

exploration wells to development 

wells, and as our focus turns towards 

installing production facilities and 

achieving operational excellence.  

Just as we enthusiastically pursued 

exploration, we are now diving 

headfirst into this new era of 

development, production and  

cash flow. 
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Our exploration program has been 

remarkably successful, with the 

Company proving up more than 1  

billion barrels of oil equivalent gross 

mean contingent resources across  

our two blocks. While we begin the 

development of these discovered 

resources, WesternZagros continues to 

carry significant yet-to-be-discovered 

upside with more than 2.2 billion barrels 

of oil equivalent gross mean prospective 

resources estimated for the two blocks. 

These undiscovered resources have 

been assessed by our independent 

resource evaluators to be in continuity 

with our proven contingent resources. 

Therefore, the chance of proving up 

additional resources is considered to  

be very high, far higher than normal 

exploration prospects, even for a prolific 

petroleum province like Iraq. The 

Company plans to pursue these low-risk 

prospective resources through our 

future development drilling program. 

Shifting gearS

As we neared the end of 2013, we were 

aware that we had reached the point 

where our exploration blocks were due 

to get considerably smaller, and where 

the remaining prospects were non- 

core to our forward objectives.  

With the filing of the Declaration of 

Commerciality for the Sarqala field in 

our Garmian Block, it became apparent 

that our path was on the production 

trail. This was also the conclusion of 

Gazprom Neft, our co-venturer on the 

block, and we worked together with  

the KRG to relinquish non-core assets 

and shed further exploration 

expenditure commitments.

With more than 1 billion barrels of oil 

equivalent already discovered, more 

than half of which is light oil, the 

choice to advance from exploration  

to production was an easy decision 

for our company and our partners. 

While we had been contemplating the 

formal move to development for some 

time, there were two key events in the 

latter portion 2013 and early 2014 that 

further supported this course 

of action:

•	 In December 2013 we filed our 

Declaration of Commerciality for  

the Sarqala Discovery with a goal  

of achieving near-term production 

from the field to generate cash flow. 

This filing was an important 

regulatory step that commenced  

the development period under our 

Production Sharing Contract. The 

Declaration of Commerciality was 

approved by the KRG in February 

2014 and effective back to 

December 2013. 

•	 As part of our move to the 

development phase, the KRG waived 

our exploration commitment to drill 

the Qulijan exploration well in 

exchange for the relinquishment of 

the remaining exploration prospects 

in the Garmian Block deemed 

non-core by WesternZagros and 

Gazprom Neft. This was desirable 

for us as the reservoir encountered 

in the Baram-1 exploration well, 

despite testing oil, fell short of 

expectations and had downgraded 

our expectations for Qulijan. The 

relinquishment also included two 

other non-core prospects that the 

Company had previously elected 

not to fund.

advancing development

As we advance into the development 

phase, WesternZagros is focused on 

Converting Discoveries into  
Light Oil Production
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optimizing and monetizing the value  

of our discoveries, and their potential 

extensions, through a variety of means. 

This includes working with our partners 

and the KRG to explore the greatest 

value creation choices for our suite  

of resources. Our immediate target is 

our Sarqala Discovery in the Garmian 

Block, where we have already produced 

more than 1 million barrels of light oil 

and have the capability of near-term 

production from the existing Sarqala-1 

well and potentially the Hasira-1 well.  

A little further out, we are also working 

with Talisman on a development plan  

for our giant oil and natural gas field in 

the Kurdamir Block.

We have commenced development 

work at our Sarqala Discovery where 

we’ve found gross unrisked mean 

estimates of 24 million barrels of oil  

in contingent resources and assessed 

463 million barrels of oil equivalent  

in prospective resources. In 2011 and 

2012, an extended well test at the 

Sarqala-1 well produced on average 

5,000 barrels of oil per day with 

negligible drawdown on reservoir 

pressure, even after we produced the  

1 million barrels. This is a high pressure 

reservoir that really wants to flow. 

We are undertaking a first phase of 

development that involves a workover 

of the Sarqala-1 well to raise the 

production rate to about 10,000 

barrels of oil per day in the second  

half of this year. Our existing, on-site 

production facilities are already 

designed to accommodate this rate. 

Once the workover is complete, 

Sarqala-1 provides us with the 

opportunity for near-term production 

and cash flow. We are in active 

discussions with the KRG, which is 

eager to advance plans to capture the 

solution natural gas from this oil.

In preparation for the second phase of 

development of the Sarqala field, we 

expect to submit a development plan 

to the KRG in June. We created an 

integrated development team with 

Gazprom Neft in mid-2012 and have 

been working on the development plan 

for some time. As a global producer of 

more than a million barrels of oil a day, 

Gazprom Neft’s wealth of production 

expertise is enhancing our efforts. 

The development plan is based around 

a phased expansion strategy. We 

expect to incrementally increase our 

facilities and production to match  

sales volumes and to manage our 

capital investment and exposure.  

This plan will outline the location of 

future development wells, expanded 

production facilities, a processing 

facility and other support 

infrastructure. It will serve as a 

blueprint for increasing our production 

towards 35,000 barrels of oil per day  

in 2016. Future expansions beyond  

this rate will be added based on the 

success of our drilling to target the 

additional 463 million barrels of oil 

equivalent in prospective resources. 

Testing of the adjacent Hasira-1 

exploration well has commenced. In 

addition to testing the Jeribe reservoir, 

which is the productive zone in the 

Sarqala-1 well, this well will also 

evaluate the deeper Oligocene 

reservoir. If the test in the Oligocene  

is successful, it will increase the 

resources for the broader Sarqala field. 

The Hasira-1 well may be completed in 

either reservoir and easily tied into the 

Sarqala infrastructure to contribute 

material production in the near term. 

Development drilling on the Sarqala 

field is planned to commence in early 

2015 once the development plan is 

approved. A land application has 

already been filed for the site of the 

Sarqala-2 well and we’re preparing the 

materials we will need for this well. 

We’re in the process of finalizing the 

design, which will likely see this well 

drilled as a horizontal producer. 

Development of the entire Sarqala field 

is expected to take between eight and 

10 horizontal wells. 

WesternZagros is also advancing plans 

to develop the giant discovery in our 

Kurdamir Block, which has a gross 

unrisked mean estimate of more than 

500 million barrels of oil in contingent 

resources and a further 1.3 billion 

barrels of oil in prospective resources. 

The contingent resources alone are 

expected to support ultimate 

production of 125,000 to 150,000 

barrels of oil per day.

We expect to file a Declaration of 

Commerciality and a development 

plan for the Kurdamir field within the 

next 12 months. In the meantime, we 

plan to complete an extended well 

test on the previous Kurdamir-2 well  

in May to evaluate reservoir flow  

rates. The operator, Talisman, is also 

proposing to drill our first horizontal 

well, Kurdamir-4, into the reservoir 

later this year. 

fueling the market

The high quality, light oil from Sarqala 

is in high demand across the Kurdistan 

Region, for both domestic use and for 

export. The local market refers to it as 

“Sarqala super light”. It is an excellent 

standalone product, but also has value 

as a blending component for the 

heavier crudes produced elsewhere  

in the region. Under the terms of our 

Production Sharing Contract for the 

Sarqala field, WesternZagros receives 

about 27 percent of the production 
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during the cost recovery phase. We 

expect our production to be priced 

close to the Brent benchmark for crude 

oil prices in the global export market.

Many will already be aware that the 

KRG has recently completed a new 

pipeline to enable the export of oil 

through the Kurdistan Region to 

Turkey. This 36-inch pipeline is 

expected to have an initial capacity of 

130,000 to 150,000 barrels of oil per 

day and is designed to ramp up to over 

400,000 barrels per day in the coming 

years. Subject to completion of the 

metering facility at Fish Khabur and 

ongoing KRG discussions with the 

federal government, we expect that 

shipments through this pipeline will 

commence in the next few months. 

In the near term we expect to be 

trucking our produced oil to the 

domestic market or across the 

relatively short distance to Khurmala, 

where it would enter the new export 

pipeline en route to the Mediterranean 

port of Ceyhan in Turkey.

The KRG has indicated in its 

publications that it plans to extend  

this pipeline system from Khurmala 

directly down to our discoveries, a 

distance of approximately 175 

kilometres, removing the need to  

truck production. This is still an 

early-stage concept, but it shows  

the high esteem placed on the quality 

and the size of our discoveries in 

southern Kurdistan.

In addition to our planned oil 

production, there are commercial 

volumes of natural gas in our 

discoveries. For every 10,000 barrels 

of oil we produce at Sarqala, we 

expect to produce about 20 million 

cubic feet of natural gas. We are 

working closely with the KRG on  

plans to develop this natural gas. 

As both our fields are developed,  

the KRG is committed to utilizing the 

natural gas for both export and 

domestic uses. Within the Kurdistan 

Region, the KRG continues to develop 

its power infrastructure with an 

emphasis on natural gas for power 

generation. Our Sarqala field has an 

associated gas stream available to 

provide a near-term natural gas 

supply to the Kurdistan Region. In 

addition, the Kurdamir Discovery 

contains both associated gas from  

the production of oil and a significant 

over 1 trillion cubic foot gas cap above 

the oil discovery that can be 

monetized in the future after being 

re-injected to provide reservoir drive 

to maximize oil recoveries. 

the path forward

The development of oil and natural 

gas production in the Kurdistan 

Region continues to drive oil and 

budget policy debates between the 

KRG in Erbil and federal government in 

Baghdad. In all of our discussions with 

officials, it is clear that the KRG is very 

focused on seeing the Kurdistan 

Region move large volumes of oil to 

export markets in the near future.

We recognize the Company’s financing 

needs for the initial phases of 

development to advance production 

and cash flow. We are evaluating all 

funding options including the debt  

or equity markets, additional 

partnerships, farm-outs, as well as 

other strategic arrangements.

I would like to take this opportunity to 

thank WesternZagros’s shareholders 

who have supported us through the 

successful exploration phase of our 

ventures. We look forward to your 

continued support as we pursue 

development. What remains 

unchanged in this transition is our 

ultimate goal of value creation. I would 

also like to thank the employees of 

WesternZagros who have worked 

tirelessly to achieve this amazing 

accomplishment. Without your efforts, 

we would not be the successful 

company that we are today. 

Finally, I would like to thank the  

people of the Kurdistan Region. Our 

development initiatives will remain 

focused on helping generate beneficial 

economic activity for all citizens of the 

Kurdistan Region and Iraq. We have 

successfully discovered substantial 

resources in the Kurdistan Region and 

we look forward to your continuing 

support as we pursue development 

and production growth.

Sincerely,

Simon Hatfield,  

Chief Executive Officer 
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Operations Review 

WesternZagros has declared 

commerciality on its Garmian Block and 

is planning to submit a development 

plan to the Kurdistan Regional 

Government (KRG) in June 2014. At the 

nearby Kurdamir Block, the Company is 

currently completing its exploration and 

appraisal phase in preparation for a 

Declaration of Commerciality no later 

than the first quarter of 2015. To date, 

WesternZagros has discovered more 

than 1 billion barrels of gross unrisked 

contingent resources and anticipates 

the declaration of reserves after the 

approval of the Garmian and Kurdamir 

development plans. Although the 

Company has now completed its 

broader exploration program, 

WesternZagros continues to have 

significant undiscovered resource 

upside with 2.2 billion barrels of gross 

unrisked prospective resources of oil 

and natural gas (both combined mean 

estimates) that are associated directly 

with its existing discoveries.

kurdamir Block

The Kurdamir contract area (Kurdamir 

Block) is operated by Talisman  

(Block K44) B.V. (Talisman) with  

a 40 percent working interest. 

WesternZagros holds a 40 percent 

working interest and the KRG holds  

a 20 percent working interest. The 

Kurdamir Block includes the Kurdamir 

Discovery, which contains an estimated 

976 million barrels of oil equivalent 

(MMBOE) of gross mean contingent 

resources in the Oligocene and Eocene 

reservoirs. An additional 1.6 billion 

barrels of oil equivalent of gross 

unrisked prospective resources (mean 

estimate) have been identified for future 

appraisal across the stacked Oligocene, 

Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs.

In 2013, WesternZagros and Talisman 

established a dedicated team to 

prepare a declaration of commerciality 

and development plans for the 

Kurdamir Discovery, both of which are 

anticipated to be filed with the KRG  

no later than the first quarter of 2015.
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Resource Update

WesternZagros updated its contingent 

and prospective resource estimates  

for the Oligocene reservoir in the 

Kurdamir structure based on new 

information obtained from the 

Kurdamir-3 well and 3D seismic data. 

The assessment was audited by 

independent reserves auditors in 

February 2014, resulting in a revised 

mean estimate of gross unrisked 

contingent resources (Mean 

Contingent Resources) of 750 MMBOE,  

an increase of five percent from those 

previously recognized. On an oil basis, 

the Mean Contingent Resources are 

now 386 million barrels of oil (MMbbl). 

The combined Mean Contingent 

Resources estimates for the Oligocene 

and Eocene reservoirs in the Kurdamir 

Discovery are 976 MMBOE, including 

541 MMbbl of oil.

The revised mean estimate of gross 

unrisked prospective resources  

(Mean Prospective Resources) for  

the Oligocene reservoir at Kurdamir  

is 1,084 MMbbl of oil, effectively 

unchanged from the previous estimate.

Kurdamir-3 Appraisal Well

In February 2013, WesternZagros and 

Talisman spudded the Kurdamir-3  

well. While Kurdamir-1 and Kurdamir-2 

were considered exploration wells, 

Kurdamir-3 was designed as an 

appraisal well to evaluate the extent  

of the oil leg in the Oligocene reservoir. 

It was drilled approximately five 

kilometres west of the Kurdamir-2 

discovery well. 

The Kurdamir-3 appraisal well 

confirmed light oil (37 degree API)  

in the upper part of the Oligocene 

reservoir. Flow rates averaged 

between 450 and 900 barrels of oil 

per day. This was below expectations 

due to a lower density of fractures 

encountered compared to those found 

in the two previous wells. Test results, 

together with pressure data and log 

data, are interpreted to have identified 

an oil-water contact for purposes of 

the contingent resource estimate at 

approximately -2,049 metres sub-sea. 

The previous interpreted lowest 

known oil in the Kurdamir-2 well was 

at -2,016 metres sub-sea. However, oil 

saturation was demonstrated below 

this oil-water contact as far down as 

the base of the Oligocene reservoir  

at -2,228 metres sub-sea and oil was 

tested by a drill stem test at the depth 

of -2,174 metres sub-sea. At this time 

the Company believes the identified 

oil-water contact is very conservative. 

Although all resources assessed 

deeper than the interpreted oil-water 

contact are classified as prospective 

(i.e. undiscovered), the findings of the 

Kurdamir-3 well result in a low risk 

being attributed to the additional 350 

MMbbl of Mean Prospective Resources 

that are in the reservoir between the 

interpreted oil-water contact and the 

base of the Oligocene reservoir.

The Kurdamir-3 well tested a less 

productive portion of the reservoir 

than anticipated, but was successful  

in reaffirming the resources of the 

Kurdamir Discovery as a giant oil and 

natural gas field, and has provided 

evidence of deeper oil.

3D Seismic

A Kurdamir 3D seismic survey was 

conducted to more clearly define  

the stacked Oligocene, Eocene and 

Cretaceous reservoirs between 

January and July 2013. It covered 184 

square kilometres and extended onto 

the neighbouring Topkhana Block – a 

property operated by Talisman. 

Processing of the data is underway 

and anticipated to be completed in  

the third quarter of 2014.

garmian Block

WesternZagros holds a 40 percent 

working interest in the Garmian 

contract area (Garmian Block) and is 

currently the operator. The KRG holds 

a 20 percent interest and the remaining 

40 percent interest is held by Gazprom 

Neft Middle East B.V. (Gazprom Neft). 

Operatorship of the Garmian Block  

is expected to transition from 

WesternZagros to Gazprom Neft  

by December 31, 2014. 

The Garmian Block includes the 

Sarqala Discovery, containing 31 

MMBOE of Mean Contingent Resources 

and considerable remaining upside 

with an estimated 584 MMBOE of  

gross unrisked prospective resources 

(mean estimate) in multiple reservoirs.

Move to Development

A Declaration of Commerciality for the 

Sarqala Discovery was approved by  

the KRG in February 2014, effective as 

of December 23, 2013. WesternZagros 

and Gazprom Neft are now preparing  

a development plan for the production 

area at Sarqala, including the Mil Qasim 

and Hasira discoveries, for submission 

to the KRG by June 21, 2014.

During 2013, the Company and 

Gazprom Neft established a dedicated 

team to prepare a development plan 

for the Sarqala Discovery. This team has 

commenced preliminary engineering 

work for expanded production facilities 

with a design capacity up to 35,000 

barrels of oil per day.

WesternZagros, Gazprom Neft, and 

the KRG have agreed to focus future 

activities on development of the 

existing discoveries on the Garmian 

Block subsequent to the completion  
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of the Hasira-1 exploration well. The 

remainder of the exploration acreage 

that was previously part of the 

Garmian Block has been returned to 

the KRG pursuant to the terms of the 

Production Sharing Contract.

Sarqala-1 Production

At the Sarqala-1 well, a workover 

commenced in March 2014 to increase 

the production capability from 5,000 to 

10,000 barrels of oil per day. Once the 

development plan for the Sarqala field 

is approved, the Company anticipates 

commencing oil sales into the domestic 

market or the export market.

Seismic

Processing of the 3D seismic data over 

the Sarqala, Hasira and Mil Qasim  

oil discoveries was completed in  

the fourth quarter of 2013 and 

interpretation is underway. The use  

of this new 3D seismic data will allow 

future wells to more accurately 

pinpoint fracture locations in 

reservoirs that are more likely to  

result in higher deliverability.

Baram-1 Exploration Well

An open-hole test at the Baram-1  

well confirmed a gross oil interval of 73 

metres that flowed light oil (42 degree 

API) and water at an approximate rate 

of 600 barrels per day. The wireline 

log and other data obtained indicate 

the test was conducted across an 

oil-water contact in low permeability 

reservoir. The Baram prospect was 

subsequently relinquished as it  

is considered non-core to 

WesternZagros’s development plans. 

2014 outlook

In 2014, WesternZagros is focusing  

on completing the remaining appraisal 

activities at the Hasira and Kurdamir 

prospects, and on advancing 

development plans for the discoveries 

on the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks. 

Emphasis is on advancing a phased 

development plan that includes early 

production systems. This is expected 

to lead to permanent facilities based 

on modular, staged expansions to 

deliver significant production rates of 

oil and natural gas as discoveries are 

further delineated. This follows the 

Kurdistan Region’s initiatives to 

advance oil exports to the world 

market and to provide natural gas  

to domestic markets for power 

generation. The KRG is also evaluating 

the development of infrastructure to 

export natural gas to markets in  

Turkey and beyond. 

The Company continues to evaluate 

various financing alternatives to fund 

future development plans. These 

alternatives may include accessing the 

debt and/or equity markets, additional 

partnerships, farm-outs or other 

strategic arrangements.

Hasira-1 Appraisal and Exploration Well

The Hasira-1 well in the Garmian Block 

has reached a total depth of 4,181 

metres, drilling through the targeted 

Jeribe and Oligocene reservoirs. 

Results to date have confirmed light  

oil in the Jeribe reservoir, which is  

the productive zone in the adjacent 

Sarqala-1 well. Testing of the Oligocene 

reservoir in the adjacent Hasira-1 well 

has commenced. The goal of achieving 

optimum test results will ultimately 

determine whether the safest and most 

effective testing method is through 

open or cased hole. Additional testing 

in the Jeribe may be conducted, 

subject to the Oligocene results.

Kurdamir Appraisal

On the Kurdamir Block, the operator, 

Talisman, is conducting a 30-day flow 

test from the Kurdamir-2 well. This  

will provide additional insight into the 

production potential of the structure. 

Plans are also underway for a 

Kurdamir-4 well, which is expected to be 

drilled later in 2014 as a horizontal well.

infraStructure

The KRG is committed to the 

development of its oil and natural gas 

resources. Oil and gas revenue sharing 

and budget policy negotiations are 

ongoing between the KRG in Erbil and 

the federal government in Baghdad. 

The U.S. is acting as a broker in the 

process to help facilitate a mutually 

beneficial agreement between the 

Kurdistan Region, Baghdad and Turkey.

Oil

In May 2012, the KRG announced joint 

cooperation plans with Turkey for the 

development of additional 

infrastructure to export oil and natural 

gas. This resulted in the construction of 

a new pipeline through the Kurdistan 

Region with an initial capacity of 

130,000 to 150,000 barrels of oil per 

day. The pipeline was commissioned in 

late 2013 and is ready to commence 

operations. Exports have not yet 

started while the KRG and Iraq federal 

government continue to negotiate 

revenue sharing and export rights for 

oil produced in the Kurdistan Region.

By the end of 2014, the Kurdistan 

Region expects to have the capacity  

to export approximately 250,000 

barrels of oil per day through this 

pipeline, with potential to expand to 

400,000 barrels per day in early 2015 

following installation of additional 

pumping stations. Further volumes  

are expected to be trucked for export, 

especially heavy crudes that do not 

meet required pipeline specifications 

even with diluent.
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Currently, the primary export pipeline 

from the Kurdistan Region, the 

Kirkuk-Ceyhan pipeline, running 

through Iraq into Turkey is significantly 

underutilized. Exports are estimated  

at approximately 0.3 MMbbl per  

day versus the stated capacity of  

1.6 MMbbl per day. The starting point 

for this pipeline is located within the 

Kurdistan Region at Khurmala (the 

northwest end of the Kirkuk Oilfield), 

which is 175 kilometres from 

WesternZagros’s blocks and within 

trucking distance. From Khurmala,  

the pipeline travels southeast to the 

central Kirkuk facilities in Iraq, then 

southwest to Baji. From there, it moves 

oil northwest to Fish Khabur in the 

Kurdistan Region where it crosses the 

border into Turkey before ending on 

the Mediterranean coast at Ceyhan. 

In August 2013, the Government of 

Iraq announced plans to build a new 

northern export pipeline with an 

estimated 500,000 barrel per day 

capacity. This planned 40-inch 

diameter pipeline would travel the 

same route as the existing Kirkuk-

Ceyhan pipeline, about 300 kilometres 

from Baiji to the Fish Khabur metering 

station in the Kurdistan Region.  

It would then tie into the existing 

infrastructure enroute to Ceyhan. 

In addition, Turkey has implemented 

upgrades on its portion of the pipeline 

that receives crude from the tie in at 

Fish Khabur and transports it to the 

port city of Ceyhan. 

Gas

The KRG has committed to natural gas 

development with an initial focus on 

domestic power generation and other 

industrial uses. This would be followed 

by the expansion of infrastructure to 

facilitate exports to Turkey. In October 

2013, the Turkish government 

announced the construction of a large 

pipeline for the receipt of natural gas 

exports from northern Iraq.

In September 2013, the KRG concluded 

the first natural gas sale agreement in 

the Kurdistan Region for a supply of 

gas from the Summail Field to the 

Dohuk power plant to displace diesel 

fuel currently used to generate 

electricity. Initial deliveries are 

expected to be around 100 million 

cubic feet per day. A 10 kilometre 

pipeline has been constructed 

between the Summail field and the 

Dohuk power plant. 

WesternZagros is working with the 

KRG to determine how the associated 

natural gas resources from the 

Company’s blocks can help meet  

the needs of the Kurdistan Region. 

Options under consideration include 

the provision of natural gas to power 

generators, compression or conversion 

of gas for sale in the domestic market, 

and potential gas reinjection to 

enhance overall oil recovery from the 

Kurdamir and Garmian structures.

Strengthened partner 
Support

Crest 

In March 2013, a key WesternZagros 

financial partner, Crest Energy 

International LLC (Crest), continued its 

strong support of WesternZagros by 

purchasing 51 million common shares 

at an approximate 25 percent premium 

to the market price. This provided 

proceeds of $62.4 million. As part of 

the agreement, Crest representative 

John Howland was appointed a 

member of the WesternZagros Board 

of Directors. In conjunction with this 

private placement, the Company also 

entered into a loan agreement with 

Crest and received US$57.5 million. 

In April 2013, the Company completed 

a second private placement of 11 

million common shares with Crest and 

Jasmine Capital (a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Richard Chandler 

Corporation), again at a premium to 

the market price, for gross proceeds  

of $14.1 million. The proceeds of this 

private placement were used to repay 

the principal amount and accrued 

interest of the loan. 

In February 2014, Eric Stoerr, one of 

two Crest representatives on the 

Board of Directors, resigned for 

personal reasons. John Howland 

remains a director. Crest retains a  

right to nominate a replacement board 

member pursuant to the terms of the 

investment agreement.

Crest is currently WesternZagros’s 

largest shareholder, holding 

approximately 19.8 percent of the 

common shares.

Paulson & Co.

In June and July 2013, the Company 

issued Cdn $100 million of convertible 

senior unsecured notes to investment 

funds managed by Paulson & Co. 

(Cdn$70 million), Crest (Cdn $19.8 

million) and other qualified investors 

(Cdn $10.2 million). A portion of the 

proceeds received was used to repay 

the outstanding amount of the loan 

originally received from Crest in March 

2013, including applicable accrued 

interest, and the remainder used to 

fund ongoing operational activities 

and corporate expenses.

Operations Review / 9



health, Safety, environment  
& Security (hSe&S)

WesternZagros recognizes the 

importance of, and is committed to, 

safe, compliant and environmentally 

conscious operations for its employees, 

contractors, stakeholders and impacted 

communities. All levels of management 

are responsible for providing and 

maintaining a safe work place through 

proper procedures, training and 

equipment. WesternZagros has 

adopted Canadian and international 

health, safety, and environment 

standards for its operations in the 

Kurdistan Region. 

WesternZagros has developed a 

comprehensive Health, Safety and 

Environment Management System 

(HSEMS) to provide employees and 

contractors with the fundamental 

information required to conduct all 

tasks in a safe, healthy and 

environmentally friendly manner. 

All personnel working with 

WesternZagros are required to 

understand and comply with the 

information contained in the HSEMS 

and to continually use it as a reference 

and a resource.

To support health initiatives, 

WesternZagros has established 

relationships with local health 

providers in Sulaymaniya, which is the 

closest city to Company operations.  

As well, an agreement is in place with 

International SOS for emergency 

medical evacuation. International SOS 

provides access to a worldwide 

network of health providers.

The Company achieved a combined 

total of 3.73 million person hours (975 

days) without a lost time incident (LTI) 

in June 2013. While the Company did 

experience subsequent LTIs, both its 

LTI frequency and total recordable 

injury frequency were within its target 

goals and below the Canadian 

industry average.

WesternZagros measures many 

performance indicators to 

continuously improve its HSE&S 

performance and culture: 1) lost time 

injury frequency, 2) total recordable 

injury frequency, 3) environment 

incidents, 4) vehicle accident rate,  

and 5) continuous improvement of  

its security team. The Company 

continued its strong HSE&S record  

in 2013, having met or exceeded its 

targets for the year.

Strengthening the team

WesternZagros continues to cultivate 

and expand its management team. In 

2013, Mary Benassi was appointed Vice 

President, Human Resources, with 

responsibility for WesternZagros’s 

overall human resources function. In 

addition, Bill Jack was promoted to 

Vice President and General Manager, 

Kurdistan, to support increased 

government liaison and in-country 

administration. These assignments 

have increased the breadth and depth 

of the executive team.

WesternZagros is fortunate to have a 

highly professional team of employees 

and contractors in both Calgary and 

the Kurdistan Region. This group of 

talented individuals is fully prepared 

to efficiently transition from 

exploration to development and will 

help define WesternZagros’s success 

in 2014 and beyond.

Transitioning from frontier explorer  
to development company.
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Kurdamir Contingent and Prospective Resources

Table 1(a)

Gross Unrisked 
Contingent 
Resources(1), (2)

Kurdamir Block 
Oil, Gas and 
Condensate

Oligocene 
Reservoir as  
of Feb 10, 2014

Eocene 
Reservoir as  
of Feb 8, 2013

   Low  
Estimate6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Discovery Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type

P90 (1C)
MMbbl/Bcf

P50 (2C)
MMbbl/Bcf

P10 (3C)
MMbbl/Bcf

Mean 
MMbbl/Bcf

Kurdamir
Tertiary 

Oligocene
Oil 220 366 576 386

Solution Gas 211 380 626 404

Associated 

Gas(4)
999 1,414 1,926 1,443

Condensate 34 55 80 56

mmBoe(10) 456 720 1,081 750

Kurdamir Tertiary Eocene Oil 69 138 263 155

Solution Gas 115 245 480 280

Associated Gas 90 130 180 130

Condensate 2 3 5 3

mmBoe 105 204 378 226

kurdamir total mean mmbbl oil only – gross unrisked contingent resources 541

kurdamir total mean mmBoe – gross unrisked contingent resources 976

Table 1(b)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources(1), (3)

Kurdamir Block 

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

Oligocene 

Reservoir as  

of Feb 10, 2014

Eocene and 

Cretaceous 

Reservoirs as  

of Feb 8, 2013

Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
 Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Discovery Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Kurdamir
Tertiary 

Oligocene
Oil 552 1,004 1,739 1,084

Solution Gas 549 1,033 1,838 1,129

  mmBoe(10) 644 1,176 2,045 1,272

Kurdamir Tertiary Eocene Oil 31 91 202 107

Solution Gas 50 160 350 185

  mmBoe 39 118 260 138

Kurdamir Cretaceous Oil 38 108 243 130

Solution Gas 75 225 525 275

Associated Gas 65 140 260 155

Condensate 2 4 8 4

  mmBoe 63 173 382 206

kurdamir total mean mmbbl oil only – gross unrisked prospective  resources 1,321

kurdamir total mean mmBoe – gross unrisked prospective resources 1,616
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Sarqala Contingent and Prospective Resources

Table 2(a)

Gross Unrisked 

Contingent 

Resources (1), (2)

Garmian Block  

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate as 

of Feb 8, 2013

Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
 Estimate(8)

Mean  
Estimate(9)

Discovery Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Sarqala(5)
Jeribe / Upper 

Dhiban
Oil 9 21 44 24

Solution Gas 15 35 70 40

mmBoe(10) 12 27 56 31

Jeribe/upper dhiban total mean oil only – gross unrisked contingent resources 24

Jeribe/upper dhiban total mean mmBoe – gross unrisked contingent resources 31

Table 2(b)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources(1), (3)

Garmian Block 

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate as 

of Feb 8, 2013

   Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Discovery Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Sarqala(5)

Structure 

Below Lowest 

Known Oil 

Jeribe/Upper 

Dhiban

Oil 17 49 125 63

Solution Gas 30 80 195 100

mmBoe(10) 22 62 158 80

Sarqala

Potential 

Extension  

Southwest 

Flank Jeribe/

Upper Dhiban

Oil 14 87 304 135

Solution Gas 20 140 485 215

mmBoe 17 110 384 171

Jeribe/upper dhiban total mean oil only – gross unrisked prospective resources 198

Jeribe/upper dhiban total mean mmBoe – gross unrisked prospective  resources 251

Contingent and Prospective Resources / 13



  

Table 2(c)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources (1), (3)

Garmian Block 

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate as 

of Feb 8, 2013 

   
Low  

Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Discovery Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Sarqala(5)
Jeribe / Upper 

Dhiban
Oil 31 136 429 198

mmBoe(10) 39 172 542 251

Sarqala(5) Mio-Oligocene Oil 18 41 87 48

Solution Gas 20 75 180 90

  mmBoe 21 54 117 63

Sarqala(5) Eocene Oil 5 33 127 52

Solution Gas 65 330 1,055 470

  mmBoe 16 88 303 130

Sarqala(5) Cretaceous Oil 1 5 17 7

Solution Gas 17 55 160 75

  mmBoe 4 14 44 20

Jeribe/upper dhiban total mean oil only – gross unrisked prospective resources 305

Jeribe/upper dhiban total mean mmBoe – gross unrisked prospective resources 463

Mil Qasim Upper Fars Oil 7 63 265 106

Solution Gas 5 45 225 90

  mmBoe 8 71 303 121

mil Qasim total mean oil only – gross unrisked prospective resources 106

mil Qasim total mean mmBoe – gross unrisked prospective  resources 121

Total Contingent and Prospective Resources
Tables 1(a)  
and 2(a)

Gross Unrisked 
Contingent 
Resources(1), (2) 
Kurdamir and 
Garmian Blocks 
Oil, Gas and 
Condensate

discovery mean estimate(9) oil only  
mmbbl

mean estimate(9) mmBoe(10)  

mmbbl

Kurdamir Block

Kurdamir 541 976

Garmian Block

Sarqala(5) 24 31

total contingent mean estimate 565 1,007

Tables 1(b),  
and 2(b), 2(c) 

Gross Unrisked 
Prospective 
Resources(1), (3) 
Kurdamir and 
Garmian Blocks 
Oil, Gas and 
Condensate

discovery mean estimate(9) oil only  
mmbbl

mean estimate(9) mmBoe(10)  

mmbbl

Kurdamir Block

Kurdamir 1,321 1,616

Garmian Block

Sarqala(5) 305 463

Mil Qasim (Upper Fars)  106 121

Sub Total Kurdamir Block 1,321 1,616

Sub Total Garmian Block 411 584

total prospective mean estimate 1,732 2,200
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noteS to taBleS 1(a), (B), and 2(a), (B), (c): 

(1) The resources presented are the gross volumes estimated for the indicated reservoirs without any adjustments for the 
Company’s working interest or encumbrances. For a description of the production sharing terms under the PSCs, see  
the Company’s Annual Information Form dated March 13, 2014 under the Heading “PSC Overview and Commitments 
– Production Sharing Contract Payment Terms.”

(2) Contingent resources have an associated chance of development (economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate 
commitment or political risks). These estimates have not been risked for the chance of development. There is no certainty 
that the contingent resources will be developed and, if they are developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such 
development or that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the contingent resources. There are several 
non-technical contingencies that prevent the classification of the contingent resources as reserves. On both the Kurdamir 
Block and the Garmian Block, the Company is still in the process of preparing development plans, including permanent oil 
production facilities which utilize the associated natural gas from such production. These development plans will need to 
be approved by its co-venturers and then submitted to and approved by the KRG. On the Kurdamir Block, additional 
information may still be need to be obtained by further appraisal drilling and testing in order to finalize such development 
plans. In addition to the lack of development plans for either the Kurdamir Block or the Garmian Block, no federal Iraqi 
legislation has been agreed to or enacted to address the future organization of Iraq’s petroleum industry or the sharing of 
petroleum and other revenues within Iraq. Failure to enact federal legislation (or the enactment of federal legislation 
contradictory to the existing Kurdistan Petroleum Law and related laws) could materially adversely impact the 
commercial feasibility of developing the resources. With respect to discovered gas resources, there is currently no 
developed market in Kurdistan and very limited infrastructure to enable companies to sell or export gas and therefore 
development may be more challenging and take longer. While it is premature at this time to identify the economic 
viability of any of the contingent resources, the Company is actively carrying out the necessary economic assessment(s).

(3) These estimates have not been risked for the chance of discovery or for the chance of development. There is no certainty 
that any portion of the prospective resources will be discovered. If a discovery is made, there is no certainty that it will be 
developed or, if it is developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development or that it will be commercially 
viable to produce any portion of the prospective resources. Prospective resources are undiscovered resources that 
indicate development potential in the event the discovery is commercial and should not be construed as reserves or 
contingent resources. 

(4) The gross unrisked contingent resources for gas reflect reductions for condensate recovery, surface losses, and fuel gas.

(5) The Sarqala resource estimates have not yet been updated to reflect drilling results for the Hasira-1 well. An update will 
be completed subsequent to completion of logging, testing and integration of data.

(6) Low Estimate is considered to be a conservative estimate of the quantity that will actually be recovered. It is likely that 
the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the low estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be 
at least a 90 percent probability (P90) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the low estimate.

(7) Best Estimate is considered to be the best estimate of the quantity that will actually be recovered. It is equally likely that 
the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater of less than the best estimate. If probabilistic methods are 
used, there should be at least a 50 percent probability (P50) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed 
the best estimate.

(8) High Estimate is considered to be an optimistic estimate of the quantity that will actually be recovered. It is unlikely that 
the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the high estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be 
at least a 10 percent probability (P10) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the high estimate.

(9) Mean Estimate is the average from the probabilistic assessment.

(10) Barrels of oil equivalent (BOEs) may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A BOE volume conversion ratio of 6 
Mcf: 1 bbl has been used and is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip 
and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. Given that the value ratio based on the current price of oil as 
compared to gas is significantly different from the energy equivalency of 6:1, this conversion ratio may be misleading as 
an indication of value.
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Corporate Social  
Responsibility

In 2013, WesternZagros celebrated nine 

years as a corporate citizen in the 

Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The Company 

is proud of its history in the region and 

its initiatives to help build the capacity 

and capabilities of the Kurdish-Iraqi 

people. WesternZagros carries out its 

business ethically, legally, and in a 

manner that is fiscally, environmentally 

and socially responsible. In addition,  

the Company bases its corporate social 

responsibility (CSR) initiatives on the 

UN Global Compact and the ten 

principles in the areas of human rights, 

labour, environment and anticorruption.

In 2013, WesternZagros strengthened 

its reputation for being a trusted and 

respected company by reviewing its 

conduct across all business functions. 

The Company identified how each 

operational and administrative 

department could affect social 

performance and add value to its  

social footprint. As a result of this 

initiative, the Company developed  

an updated CSR policy. 

WesternZagros also undertook a 

number of assessments (internally  

and externally) to ensure its treatment 

of stakeholders followed industry best 

practices. These assessments included 

a socio-economic baseline study and  

a social impact study to gain a better 

understanding of the effect of its 

operations. The assessments will be 

used to tailor future CSR activities  

to support surrounding communities.

Over the past year WesternZagros  

has continued to build on several 

long-term projects. These ventures 

target local improvements that have  

a positive impact on Kurdish-Iraqi 

families, communities and businesses. 

The Company’s strategy focuses on  

six key priorities: local employment, 

water supply, education, health care, 

agriculture and recreation. 
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local employment

A key goal of WesternZagros’s 

employment strategy is to support and 

positively impact communities by hiring 

local residents and renting local vehicles  

and equipment. As such, the Company’s 

hiring policies adhere to the highest 

regional and internal standards. 

WesternZagros uses local committees  

to ensure hiring practices follow fair  

and transparent processes for each 

employment opportunity. Of the total 

staff, contractors and service providers 

working for WesternZagros in the 

region, approximately 80 percent  

are Kurdish-Iraqi nationals. Additional 

expatriate staff members are recruited 

to occupy technical positions where  

no local recruits are available.

WesternZagros continues to develop  

and train its Kurdistan Region workforce. 

In 2013, the Company participated in  

the Kurdish Careers Conference and 

provided a number of technical training 

courses for staff members. The Company 

also maintains a strong relationship with 

the American University of Iraq-

Sulaimani (AUIS) to provide ongoing 

training courses to develop staff, as well 

as internship programs for students. This 

resulted in a number of local summer 

students completing technical and field 

internships with WesternZagros in 2013.

water Supply

The villages near WesternZagros’s 

operations rely on ground water wells 

as their source of potable drinking 

water. While the quality of the water 

can be remarkably good, with strong 

flow rates, the heat of the summer 

months tends to deplete the water 

supply. There are also several 

communities in the area that do  

not have water wells for village use.

To help provide clean water, 

WesternZagros constructed a water 

distribution system for a local village 

and has partnered with Mercy Corps,  

an international non-governmental 

organization (NGO), to provide 

sanitation education and cleanup 

projects to protect water sources  

in a number of communities.

education

Although 70 percent of villages in 

WesternZagros’s focus areas have 

primary schools (for children between 

six and 12), students must travel to 

other centres for further education.  

This has resulted in a high adult 

illiteracy rate in the region of 

approximately 30 percent. 

Where education facilities are available, 

the buildings are often in poor 

condition, with inadequate roofing, 

plumbing, electricity, lighting, windows 

and heating. This is compounded by a  

lack of school supplies, including  

basic teaching materials.

The Company’s contribution in 2013 

was to build an intermediate school 

extension onto the existing primary 

school in a local village. This provided 

youth with the opportunity for 

advanced education. The Company  

is also addressing the lack of teaching 

materials by supporting the  

distribution of school supplies.  

As well, WesternZagros continues  

to sponsor a mobile literacy bus 

program that travels throughout 

operational areas. 

Beyond basic education needs, 

WesternZagros assists various villages 

in providing sports, arts and social 

programs to primary school children. 

health care

Local villages generally do not have 

access to medical services, with only 

four out of 25 villages having some 

type of clinic facility. In cases where 

villages do have services, they are 

typically old and of insufficient quality 

to serve the population. Individuals 

seeking medical attention are forced  

to travel great distances to larger 

centres or cities.

In December 2013, WesternZagros 

worked with local government 

representatives to carry out a women’s 

health needs assessment in several 

communities. Under this program an 

international doctor visited villages and 

health facilities to conduct interviews 

with healthcare providers, community 

groups and individual women. The 

assessment gained insight into women’s 

health practices, programs and plans.  

In addition, it reviewed availability and 

access to health services, evaluated 

perceptions regarding these services, 

and identified additional resources and 

educational programming in the region. 

The findings of the assessment will  

help WesternZagros support future 

initiatives to improve women’s health  

in local communities.

WesternZagros is supporting a program 

that provides donations of medical 

equipment and supplies to provide 

local treatment options. In addition,  

the Company has purchased a bus to 

provide children suffering from the 

disease of Thalessemia with regular 

dedicated transportation to medical 

facilities in the city of Sulaymaniyah. 
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recreation

One aspect of WesternZagros’s CSR 

program that is of particular interest to 

residents is the development of youth 

recreation and development projects.  

To support these initiatives in 2013, 

WesternZagros completed the 

construction or refurbishment of 

meeting halls and recreational facilities  

in local communities. The Company also 

sponsored and participated in a number 

of Kurdish events and initiatives, such as 

the Kurdistan Region Careers Conference 

and the Kurdish Youth Festival.

Many of WesternZagros’s initiatives  

are focused on providing children  

with access to recreation facilities  

and equipment. The Company 

regularly donates sports equipment 

and uniforms to local organizations, 

facilities and teams.

agriculture

Prior to the arrival of WesternZagros, 

the primary sources of income in the 

region were agriculture and livestock. 

The agricultural sector is heavily  

reliant on wheat farming, which is 

dependent on rainfall due to a lack  

of irrigation equipment. 

The Company continues to support  

a household greenhouse project in 

partnership with an international  

NGO named Social Transformation & 

Educational Prosperity. This program 

recycles plastic water bottles from 

WesternZagros’s operations into  

small greenhouses to support self-

sustenance agriculture for rural 

families. This program supports the 

community’s needs, while reducing 

operational waste.

environment

WesternZagros is committed to 

meeting or exceeding local 

environmental practices, and follows 

Canadian and international oil and 

natural gas regulations where none 

have yet been developed. One of 

WesternZagros’s overall goals is to 

minimize its impact on the environment. 

The Company evaluates its 

environmental performance using 

metrics similar to other critical 

business measures. 

WesternZagros has performed a 

full-scale environmental baseline study 

and has developed comprehensive 

environmental mitigation plans for  

its areas of operation. The Company 

routinely performs emergency and spill 

response exercises, and trains personnel 

for potential environmental impacts. 

In 2013, WesternZagros reduced its 

environmental footprint by connecting 

its field headquarters to the national 

electricity grid to reduce reliance on 

generator power. This significantly 

reduced diesel fuel consumption and 

lowered carbon emission levels. Other 

environmental projects completed by 

WesternZagros included a tanker 

program to water trees, community 

cleanup projects in five villages, and  

the donation of 6,000 trees and plants.

WesternZagros is actively pursuing 

recycling, emissions control, and waste 

and water management solutions to 

further reduce environmental impacts. 

In addition, WesternZagros is 

proactively addressing a number of 

pending environmental regulations that 

the Kurdistan Regional Government is 

expecting to introduce over the 

upcoming period. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) reviews the financial condition, activities and results of 
operations of WesternZagros Resources Ltd. (“WesternZagros” or the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2013.  
This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements (the “Annual Financial 
Statements”), prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and the related notes for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. 

Additional information relating to the Company, including its quarterly MD&As for the year, is available on SEDAR  
at www.sedar.com.

This MD&A is dated March 13, 2014.

forward-looking information 

This discussion offers management’s analysis of the financial and operating results of WesternZagros and contains certain 
forward-looking statements relating to, but not limited to, operational information, future appraisal and development plans  
and the timing associated therewith, future production capability and capacity of wells and facilities, estimated commitments 
under the Company’s Production Sharing Contract for the Kurdamir area (“Kurdamir PSC”) and Production Sharing Contract 
for the Garmian area (“Garmian PSC”), and planned expenditures. Forward-looking information typically contains statements 
with words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “potential”, “could”, or similar words suggesting future outcomes. The 
Company cautions readers and prospective investors in the Company’s securities to not place undue reliance on forward-
looking information as, by its nature, it is based on current expectations regarding future events that involve a number of 
assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by 
WesternZagros. Readers are also cautioned that disclosed test rates and results are not necessarily indicative of long-term 
performance or of ultimate recovery.

Forward looking information is not based on historical facts but rather on management’s current expectations as well as 
assumptions made by, and information currently available to management, concerning, among other things, outcomes of 
future well operations, plans for and results of extended well tests and drilling activity, future capital and other expenditures 
(including the amount, nature and sources of funding thereof), future economic conditions, future currency and exchange 
rates, continued political stability, timely receipt of any necessary government or regulatory approvals, the successful 
resolution of disputes, the Company’s continued ability to employ qualified staff and to obtain equipment in a timely and cost 
efficient manner, the participation of the Company’s co-venturers in joint activities, and the ability to sell production and the 
prices to be received in connection therewith. In addition, budgets are based upon WesternZagros’s current appraisal and 
development plans and anticipated costs, both of which are subject to change based on, among other things, the actual 
outcomes of well operations and the installation and commissioning of facilities, unexpected delays, availability of future 
financing and changes in market conditions. Although the Company believes the expectations and assumptions reflected in 
such forward-looking information are reasonable, they may prove to be incorrect. Forward-looking information involves 
significant known and unknown risks and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially  
from those anticipated by WesternZagros including, but not limited to, risks associated with the oil and gas industry (e.g. 
operational risks in exploration and production; inherent uncertainties in interpreting geological data; changes in plans with 
respect to capital expenditures; interruptions in operations together with any associated insurance proceedings; the 
uncertainty of estimates and projections in relation to costs and expenses and health, safety and environmental risks), the  
risk of commodity price and foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the uncertainty associated with any dispute resolution 
proceedings, the uncertainty associated with negotiating with foreign governments and risk associated with international 
activity, including the lack of federal petroleum legislation and ongoing political disputes in Iraq in particular. 

In addition, statements relating to “resources” contained herein are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve 
the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions that the resources described can be economically 
produced in the future. Terms related to resource classifications referred to herein are based on the definitions and guidelines 
in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook which are as follows. “Prospective resources” are those quantities of 
petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application of 
future development projects. Prospective resources have both an associated chance of discovery (geological chance of 
success) and a chance of development (economic, regulatory, market, facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The 
chance of commerciality is the product of these two risk components. The estimates referred to herein have not been risked 
for either the chance of discovery or the chance of development. There is no certainty that any portion of the prospective 
resources will be discovered. If a discovery is made, there is no certainty that it will be developed or, if it is developed, there  
is no certainty as to the timing of such development or that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the 
prospective resources. “Contingent resources” are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially 
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recoverable from known accumulations using established technology or technology under development, but which are not 
currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingent resources have an 
associated chance of development (economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The 
estimates referred to herein have not been risked for the chance of development. There is no certainty that the contingent 
resources will be developed and, if developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development or that it will be 
commercially viable to produce any portion of the contingent resources. All resource estimates presented are gross volumes 
for the indicated reservoirs, without any adjustment for the Company’s working interest or encumbrances. A barrel of oil 
equivalent (“BOE”) is determined by converting a volume of natural gas to barrels using the ratio of 6 million cubic feet (“Mcf”) 
to one barrel. BOEs may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A BOE conversion ratio of 6 Mcf:1 BOE is based on an 
energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at 
the wellhead. Given that the value ratio based on the current price of oil as compared to natural gas is significantly different 
from the energy equivalency of 6:1, utilizing a conversion on a 6:1 basis may be misleading as an indication of value. The 
Company’s Statement of Oil and Gas Information contained in its Annual Information Form dated March 13, 2014 (“AIF”), filed 
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com contains additional detail with respect to the resource assessments and includes the significant 
risks and uncertainties associated with the estimates and the recovery and development of the resources, and, in respect of 
contingent resources, the specific contingencies that prevent the classification of the resources as reserves. In addition, 
combined mean estimates of resources that are presented in this MD&A are an arithmetic sum of the mean estimates for 
individual reservoirs and each such individual mean estimate is the average from the probabilistic assessment that was 
completed for the reservoir. Readers should refer to the AIF for a detailed breakdown of the high (P10), low (P90) and best 
(P50) estimates for each of the individual reservoir assessments as audited by the Company’s independent reserves evaluator.

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. The forward-looking statements contained 
in this MD&A are made as of the date of this MD&A and, except as required by law, WesternZagros does not undertake any 
obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by  
this cautionary statement. See the “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s AIF for a further description of these risks and 
uncertainties facing WesternZagros. Additional information relating to WesternZagros is also available on SEDAR at  
www.sedar.com, including the Company’s AIF.

overview

WesternZagros is a publicly-traded, Calgary-based, international oil and gas company focused on acquiring, exploring, 
developing and producing crude oil and natural gas in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. WesternZagros holds two Production 
Sharing Contracts (“PSCs”) with the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan 
Region”) that are both on trend with, and adjacent to, a number of prolific oil and gas discoveries. The PSCs each govern 
separate contract areas which, collectively, are referred to as the “PSC Lands”. 

The Company holds a 40 percent working interest in the Garmian PSC and is currently the operator, the KRG holds a 20 
percent interest and the remaining 40 percent interest is held by Gazprom Neft Middle East B.V. (“Gazprom Neft”). Pursuant  
to the terms of the Garmian PSC, at the end of the Exploration Period, operatorship is to transition from WesternZagros to 
Gazprom Neft, with the parties anticipating the transfer of operatorship to be completed by December 31, 2014. 

The Garmian contract area (“Garmian Block”) includes the Sarqala and Hasira discoveries containing an estimated 463 million 
barrels of oil equivalent (“MMBOE”) of gross unrisked prospective resources (mean estimate). The Kurdamir contract area 
(“Kurdamir Block”) is operated by Talisman (Block K44) B.V. (“Talisman”) with a 40 percent working interest. WesternZagros 
holds a 40 percent working interest and the KRG holds a 20 percent working interest. The Kurdamir Block includes the 
Kurdamir Discovery containing an estimated 1.6 billion BOE of gross unrisked prospective resources (mean estimate).

WesternZagros is currently completing the exploration and appraisal phase on its Garmian and Kurdamir blocks, prior to 
commencing the development of discoveries of its crude oil and natural gas but has not established any reserves to date. 
WesternZagros’s goal is to further delineate and develop the approximately 1 billion barrels of gross unrisked contingent 
resources and the 2.2 billion barrels of gross unrisked prospective resources of oil and gas (both combined mean estimates) 
that are associated with its discoveries. The Company has declared commerciality of the Sarqala Discovery on the Garmian 
Block and is in the process of preparing a development plan with Gazprom Neft for submission to the KRG. The Company is 
also in discussion with Talisman on the Kurdamir Block regarding the timing to submit a declaration of commerciality towards 
advancing the development plans for the Kurdamir Discovery within the next 12 months. 
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WesternZagros’s reported revenue is comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalent balances and short-
term investments. During the exploration phase, the Company credits proceeds received from the sale of any hydrocarbons 
during extended well testing (“EWT”) against exploration and evaluation expenditures on the Statement of Financial Position. 
In accordance with IFRS standards, the Company expenses any borrowing costs as financing costs on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Loss during the exploration phase.

BaSiS of preSentation

Reporting and Functional Currency
The Company has prepared its December 31, 2013, audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, as 
issued by the IASB, and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that were published at the time 
of preparation and that were effective on December 31, 2013. Comparative information for 2012, including that utilized in this 
MD&A, has been prepared in accordance with the Company’s IFRS accounting policies, which have been consistently applied 
to all periods presented. Where necessary, prior period comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to presentation 
changes in the current year.

The reporting and functional currency of the Company is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar. All references herein to US$ or to  
$ are to U.S. dollars. 

Strategy
WesternZagros’s objective is to manage the pace and scale of investment and development to maximize the value of the 
Garmian and Kurdamir Blocks for the Company’s shareholders. Key elements of achieving its objective include maintaining 
best in class operating procedures and protocols to help ensure safe operating practices and remaining attractive in the  
capital markets by demonstrating operational success and maintaining prudent and conservative financial discipline. 

In 2014, WesternZagros will focus on completing the remaining exploration and appraisal activities, and advancing 
development plans on the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks. Emphasis will be on advancing a phased development plan that 
includes early production systems with the potential for staged expansions to deliver significant production rates of both oil 
and gas. The Company continues advancing opportunities with its co-venturers and the KRG on the development of gas at 
both the Garmian and Kurdamir discoveries. This follows the Kurdistan Region’s initiatives to provide gas to domestic markets, 
including power plants, and for development of export gas markets, including required pipeline infrastructure. 

WesternZagros will continue to evaluate the various alternatives available to it to satisfy its future funding needs while it 
progresses the development plans. These alternatives may include accessing the debt and/or equity markets, additional 
partnerships, farmouts or other strategic arrangements.

highlightS

WesternZagros’s highlights and activities to March 13, 2014 include the following.

Health, Safety, Environment and Security (“HSE&S”)
•	 WesternZagros	recognizes	the	importance	of,	and	is	committed	to,	safe,	compliant	and	environmentally	conscious	

operations for its employees, contractors, stakeholders and impacted communities. All levels of management are 
responsible for providing and maintaining a safe work place through proper procedures, training and equipment. 
WesternZagros has adopted Canadian and international health, safety, and environment standards for its Kurdistan 
Region operations. 

•	 The	Company	achieved	a	combined	total	of	3.73	million	person	hours	(975	days)	without	a	lost	time	incident	(“LTI”)	in	
June 2013. While the Company did experience subsequent LTIs, both its LTI frequency and total recordable injury 
frequency were within its target goals and below the Canadian industry average.

•	 WesternZagros	measures	many	performance	indicators	to	continuously	improve	its	HSE&S	performance	and	enhance	its	
safety culture, for example: 1) lost time injury frequency, 2) total recordable injury frequency, 3) environment incidents,  
4) vehicle accident rate and 5) continuous improvement of its security team. The Company continued its strong HSE&S 
record having met or exceeded its targets in 2013.

Operations 
WesternZagros’s assets comprise two contract areas, the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks, with oil and gas discoveries on both. 
These blocks are on trend with the super-giant Kirkuk oil field and adjacent to a number of prolific oil and gas discoveries.
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operated Joint venture: garmian Block

•	 The	Company	declared	the	commerciality	of	the	Sarqala	Discovery	on	December	23,	2013,	and	design	work	is	underway	
on future development plans for the oil resources in the Sarqala area. 

•	 During	2013,	the	Company	and	Gazprom	Neft	established	a	dedicated	team	for	preparing	development	plans	for	the	
Sarqala Discovery. This team has commenced preliminary engineering work for expanded production facilities with a 
design capacity of up to 35,000 barrels of oil per day (“bbl/d”).

•	 The	Hasira-1	well	has	reached	a	total	depth	of	4,181	metres,	drilling	through	both	the	Jeribe	and	Oligocene	reservoirs.	
Results to date have confirmed light oil in the Jeribe reservoir. The Company has completed logging operations in the 
Oligocene reservoir and is preparing to commence testing operations. Additional testing in the Jeribe may be conducted 
subject to the Oligocene test results.

•	 As	part	of	transitioning	to	development,	WesternZagros,	Gazprom	Neft,	and	the	KRG	have	agreed	to	focus	future	
activities on development of the discoveries on the Garmian Block subsequent to the completion of testing at Hasira-1. 
WesternZagros and Gazprom Neft are now preparing development plans for submission on the production areas at 
Sarqala, which includes Mil Qasim and Hasira, and the remainder of the acreage has been returned to the KRG.

•	 At	Sarqala-1,	a	workover	commenced	in	March	2014	to	increase	the	production	capability	above	the	current	capacity	of	
5,000 bbl/d up to 10,000 bbl/d. Once the development plan for the Sarqala field is approved, the Company anticipates 
commencing oil sales into the domestic or export market via the new pipeline.

•	 Processing	of	the	3D	seismic	data	over	the	Sarqala	and	Mil	Qasim	oil	discoveries	was	completed	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	
2013 and interpretation is underway. The use of this new 3D seismic data will allow future wells to more accurately 
pinpoint fracture locations in reservoirs resulting in higher reservoir deliverability.

•	 An	open-hole	test	of	this	reservoir	at	the	Baram-1	well	confirmed	a	gross	interval	of	73	metres	that	flowed	42	degree	API	
light oil and water at an approximate rate of 600 barrels per day. The wireline log and test data obtained indicate the test 
was conducted across an oil-water contact in low permeability reservoir. Subsequently, the Baram well will be 
relinquished as it is considered high-risk and non-core to WesternZagros’s development plans. 

non-operated Joint venture: kurdamir Block

•	 WesternZagros	updated	its	contingent	and	prospective	resource	estimates	for	the	Oligocene	reservoir	in	the	Kurdamir	
structure based on new information obtained from the Kurdamir-3 well and the interpretation of 3D seismic data. The 
revised resources assessment has been audited by the Company’s independent reserves evaluator, Sproule International 
Limited, as of February 10, 2014, resulting in a revised mean estimate of gross unrisked contingent resources (“Mean 
Contingent Resources”) of 750 MMBOE, an increase of five percent from those previously recognized. On an oil basis,  
the Mean Contingent Resources are now 386 million barrels of oil (“MMbbl”). The combined Mean Contingent Resources 
estimates for the Oligocene and Eocene reservoirs in the Kurdamir Block are now 976 MMBOE and 541 MMbbl of oil.

•	 The	revised	mean	estimate	of	gross	unrisked	prospective	resources	(“Mean	Prospective	Resources”)	for	the	Oligocene	
reservoir at Kurdamir is now 1,084 MMbbl of oil, effectively unchanged from a previous estimate of 1,076 MMbbl of oil.

•	 During	2013,	the	Company	and	Talisman	established	a	dedicated	team	for	preparing	the	declaration	of	commerciality	 
and development plans for the Kurdamir Discovery.

•	 The	Kurdamir-3	appraisal	well	confirmed	light	oil	(37	degree	API)	in	the	upper	part	of	the	Oligocene	reservoir.	Flow	rates	
averaged between 450 and 900 bbl/d. This was lower than expected due to a lower density of fractures encountered in 
the Oligocene reservoir compared to those found in Kurdamir 1 or 2.

•	 Kurdamir-3	test	results,	together	with	pressure	data	and	log	data,	are	interpreted	to	have	identified	an	oil	water	contact	at	
approximately -2049 metres sub-sea (“mSS”). The previous interpreted lowest known oil at the Kurdamir-2 well was at 
-2016 mSS.

•	 The	Kurdamir	3D	seismic	survey	started	in	January	2013	and	was	completed	in	July	2013.	It	covered	184	square	kilometres	
and also extended into the neighbouring Topkhana Block (operated by Talisman) to more clearly define the Oligocene, 
Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs. Completion of processing the data is anticipated in the third quarter of 2014 and 
processing is underway.

financial
•	 As	at	December	31,	2013,	WesternZagros	had	$97.2	million	in	working	capital,	excluding	the	$9.1	million	additional	

non-current portion of the deposit held in trust pertaining to the drilling contract. 

•	 WesternZagros’s	share	of	exploration	and	evaluation	(“E&E”)	expenditures	during	2013	included	50	percent	of	Garmian	
Block costs and 60 percent of Kurdamir Block costs. For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros’s share for 
these PSC activities and other capitalized costs was $131.6 million, comprised of $95.1 million of drilling-related costs 
($58.4 million on the Garmian Block and $36.7 million on the Kurdamir Block); $20.9 million in other appraisal costs 
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including the seismic programs on the Kurdamir Block and the southern portion of the Garmian Block as well as costs 
associated with the Sarqala EWT; $7.9 million of exploration costs including the north Garmian seismic program and other 
geological and geosciences related work; and $7.7 million for supervision, local office costs and other PSC-related costs. 
The Company’s portion of Garmian Block drilling related costs for the year ended December 31, 2013, included $24.2 
million for Hasira-1, $22.7 million for Baram-1 and $11.5 million for other drilling-related activities. 

•	 On	March	10,	2013,	the	Company	entered	into	a	second	investment	agreement	with	Crest	Energy	International	LLC	
(“Crest”) of Houston, USA, coinciding with a private placement of 51 million common shares with Crest at Cdn$1.25 per 
common share for gross proceeds of $62.4 million. This represented an approximate 25 percent premium to the March 8, 
2013, closing share price. Crest obtained the right under the associated investment agreement to nominate an additional 
nominee to the WesternZagros Board of Directors and nominated John Howland to that position. 

•	 In	conjunction	with	the	private	placement	to	Crest,	WesternZagros	also	entered	into	a	loan	agreement	with	Crest	and	
received US$57.5 million, which was secured by 10 percent of the issued share capital of WesternZagros Limited, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that is the contracting party to the Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs. The loan 
accrued interest at a fixed rate of six percent per annum, compounded monthly. The principal and accrued interest was 
repayable by September 30, 2014, subject to certain prepayment terms.

•	 On	April	4,	2013	the	Company	completed	a	marketed	private	placement	of	11,431,422	common	shares	with	Crest	and	
Jasmine Capital (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Richard Chandler Corporation) at Cdn$1.25 per common share for gross 
proceeds of $14.1 million. The net proceeds of the marketed private placement of $13.5 million were then used to repay 
$13.3 million of the principal amount and accrued interest of $0.2 million of the loan originally received from Crest during 
the first quarter of 2013. 

•	 On	June	18	and	July	2,	2013,	the	Company	completed	the	issuance	of	Cdn	$100	million	aggregate	principal	amount	of	
convertible senior unsecured notes to investment funds managed by Paulson & Co. (Cdn$70 million), Crest (Cdn $19.8 
million) and other qualified investors (Cdn $10.2 million). The convertible notes have a face value of Cdn$1,000 per note, a 
coupon rate of four percent per annum, a maturity date of December 31, 2015, and are convertible into common shares of 
the Company at the option of the holders at a conversion price of Cdn $1.45 per common share subject to adjustment in 
certain circumstances. The convertible notes bear interest from June 18, 2013 payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 
and December 31 of each year, with the first interest payment paid by December 31, 2013. The convertible notes are not 
redeemable by the Company prior to their expiry, except upon a change of control of WesternZagros where the holder of 
the convertible notes has not exercised the conversion right. A portion of the net proceeds received was used to repay 
the remaining outstanding amount of the loan originally received from Crest in March 2013, including applicable accrued 
interest, while the remainder is available for funding ongoing operational activities and corporate expenses. 

Infrastructure – Oil 
•	 Since	the	May	2012	joint	cooperation	announcement	between	the	Kurdistan	Region	and	Turkey,	the	construction	of	a	

pipeline in the Kurdistan Region from Khurmala to Fish Khabur has been completed with an initial capacity of 150,000 
bbl/d. The oil pipeline is now fully capable from an operational standpoint but production has not yet started.

•	 A	separate	pipeline	from	the	Tawke	field,	in	the	Kurdistan	Region,	with	a	tie	in	at	Fish	Khabur,	is	currently	delivering	
100,000 bbl/d for export to Turkey. 

•	 By	the	end	of	2014,	the	Kurdistan	Region	is	anticipated	to	have	the	capacity	to	export	approximately	250,000	bbl/d	 
by pipeline, with potential to increase to 400,000 bbl/d in early 2015 following installation of more pumping stations. 
Additional volumes are expected to be trucked, especially heavy crudes, which do not meet required oil specifications 
even with diluent.

•	 Turkey	has	implemented	upgrades	on	its	portion	of	the	40	inch	Iraq-Turkey	pipeline	(“ITP”)	which	receives	Kurdistan	
Region crude from the tie in at Fish Khabur and transports it to the port city of Ceyhan. Turkey has allocated four oil 
storage tanks (capacity 2.5 MMbbl) at the port city of Ceyhan for Kurdish crude as part of the ITP system which are 
currently being filled by Kurdish oil from Fish Khabur. Sale of the first batch of KRG crude through this pipeline is “on 
hold” pending ongoing export and payment discussion between the KRG and the Government of Iraq.

•	 On	August	6,	2013,	the	Government	of	Iraq	announced	plans	to	build	a	new	northern	export	pipeline	with	an	estimated	
500,000 bbl/d of capacity. This planned 40 inch diameter pipeline would travel the same route as the existing ITP, some 
300 kilometres from al-Fatha in Baiji to the Fish Khabur metering station in the Kurdistan Region where it would tie into 
the existing ITP enroute to Ceyhan.

Infrastructure – Gas
•	 On	October	9,	2013,	the	Turkish	government	announced	it	is	building	a	large	pipeline	for	the	receipt	of	natural	gas	exports	

from Northern Iraq. The new gas pipeline construction has been started by Turkish state pipeline company, BOTAS 
Petroleum Pipeline Corporation (“BOTAS”) which is planning to link its existing network to the southeastern city of 
Mardin. BOTAS has also tendered an engineering contract for a second leg of the pipeline that should run from Mardin  
to Silopi, at the Iraqi border and anticipates tendering a construction contract in 2014.
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•	 On	September	18,	2013,	the	KRG	concluded	an	agreement	with	DNO	International	and	Genel	Energy	International	Limited	
for a supply of gas in the Kurdistan Region from the Summail field to the Dohuk power plant to displace diesel fuel 
currently used to generate electricity. The Dohuk power plant is a 500 MW facility in the city of Dohuk, located 40 
kilometres from the Summail field. Initial deliveries are expected to be around 100 million cubic feet per day (“MMcf”) 
sold on a take-or-pay basis for the duration of DNO’s PSC or until deliveries reach one trillion cubic feet. DNO has 
negotiated a sales price of between $3 and $4/MMcf for the gas and is presently constructing a 10 kilometre pipeline 
between the Summail field and the Dohuk power plant. 

Export and Payment for Crude Oil from the Kurdistan Region
•	 The	KRG	and	the	Government	of	Iraq	have	held	a	number	of	meetings	between	late	December	2013	and	February	2014,	to	

advance discussions on the resumption of oil exports from the Kurdistan Region. The Government of Iraq’s latest proposal 
allows for a direct transfer to the Kurdistan Region of 17 percent of Kurdish export sales revenue from the Development 
Fund for Iraq account at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The KRG would also receive their share of Iraq’s budget. 
Marketing is proposed to be handled through a joint Kurdistan Oil Marketing Organization (“KOMO”) and the Government 
of Iraq State Oil Marketing Organization (“SOMO”). 

•	 In	January	2014,	the	Iraqi	Council	of	Ministers	ratified	the	draft	Government	of	Iraq	2014	budget.	The	draft	budget	
requires the Kurdistan Region to export 400,000 bbl/d of crude oil and contains provisions to deduct any shortfall from 
the 17 percent share of government revenues allocated to the Kurdistan Region. The budget has yet to be voted on by the 
Iraqi Parliament and ongoing negotiations between the KRG and the Government of Iraq are anticipated to result in 
changes to the draft budget before it is presented for approval. The 2013 federal budget allocated $645 million for oil 
companies working under contracts with the KRG, even though the KRG had requested $3.5 billion to cover both 2013 
production and prior amounts owing. The 2013 budget included an expected 250,000 bbl/d of oil exports from the 
Kurdistan Region and had similar provisions for deduction from the KRG’s share of the budget if production targets were 
not met. The 2013 Iraq budget was passed into law on March 8, 2013 despite a boycott by Members of Parliament from 
the Kurdistan Region and part of the Sunni Iraqi bloc, however to date the 2014 budget remains under debate. In May 
2013, the Government of Iraq and the KRG reached a tentative agreement to resolve the dispute over payments to foreign 
companies that has shut down most crude oil exports from the region. If the agreement had come into effect, Kurdistan 
would have resumed oil exports of nearly 250,000 bbl/d via the Baghdad-controlled export pipeline.

•	 On	April	23,	2013,	the	KRG	passed	a	law	that	established	a	legal	framework	for	oil-funded	economic	independence	from	
Iraq’s federal system. Its stated intention is to re-coup the billions owed to the Kurdish Region by the Government of Iraq 
by retaining profits made from the exportation of oil from the Kurdistan Region. The KRG has claimed that it will only do 
so if Baghdad continues to default on payments owed since 2003.

Strengthening Economic Ties Between Kurdistan and Turkey
•	 In	May	2013,	the	Turkish	Prime	Minister	announced	an	agreement	between	the	Turkish	Government,	the	KRG	and	

ExxonMobil on oil exploration and in June 2013, the KRG awarded six exploration blocks to an unnamed Turkish entity. 

•	 In	April	2013,	Turkey	offered	to	administer	the	division	of	oil	revenues	for	any	direct	oil	exports	from	the	Kurdistan	Region	
of Iraq. The offer, which has not been accepted by the Government of Iraq, suggests that an 83 percent portion of sales 
proceeds could be directed to the Government of Iraq with the remaining 17 percent portion directed to the KRG. The 
offer was meant to mimic Iraq’s approved budget split whereby the Kurdistan Region is allocated a 17 percent share of 
Iraq’s oil revenues. The Turkish proposal was met with strong opposition from Baghdad.

•	 In	March	2013,	the	Turkish	Prime	Minister	and	the	KRG	moved	towards	a	major	energy	deal	despite	strong	objections	from	
the Government of Iraq and the United States. Government sources cite that Turkey and the KRG had fully negotiated a 
final framework for a potential deal, including Turkish companies taking stakes in six or more exploration blocks within the 
Kurdistan Region, and setting out terms for direct pipeline export of oil and gas from Kurdistan, bypassing the federal 
distribution system.

•	 In	January	2013,	the	KRG	approved	the	export	of	oil	directly	from	the	Taq	Taq	field	in	the	Kurdistan	Region	to	Turkey,	
starting with approximately 2,000-4,000 bbl/d of trucked exports. The KRG exported this oil under its interpretation of 
the Iraq Constitution and the rights granted to the Regions. The Iraq Oil Minister responded that the exports were illegal 
and do not comply with the laws of Iraq. He has threatened legal action against those companies transporting, selling and 
purchasing this exported crude oil and has indicated that the Government of Iraq may withhold the Kurdistan Region’s 
share of the federal budget. The KRG subsequently stated that all oil contracts in the Kurdistan Region fall under the 
purview of the Kurdistan Oil Law and that neither the Government of Iraq nor the Iraq Oil Ministry has any jurisdiction to 
take any legal action against holders of PSCs in the Kurdistan Region. The KRG also stated that the Kurdistan Region 
remains committed to the Iraq Constitution, but that the Iraq Constitution does not provide the Government of Iraq with 
exclusive powers over the management or export of oil and gas.

•	 Also	in	January	2013,	the	Turkish	cabinet	approved	an	increase	in	the	state-owned	Turkish	Petroleum	International	
Company (“TPIC”) 2013 capital budget from $150 million to $500 million and approved transferring ownership of TPIC 
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from state oil company, Turkish Petroleum Corporation (“TPAO”) (which operates in southern Iraq) to BOTAS in an effort 
to boost energy project activities abroad, particularly in northern Iraq. 

Corporate
•	 On	February	18,	2014,	Eric	Stoerr,	one	of	two	Crest	representatives,	resigned	from	the	Company’s	Board	of	Directors	 

for personal reasons. John Howland is the other nominee of Crest, remains a member of the Board of Directors. Crest 
reserves its right to nominate a replacement board member pursuant to the terms of the investment agreement between 
WesternZagros and Crest.

•	 On	January	1,	2014,	William	Jack	was	promoted	to	Vice	President	and	General	Manager	Kurdistan.	Mr.	Jack	joined	
WesternZagros as General Manager, Kurdistan, in February 2013 and is responsible for government liaison and in-country 
administration. 

•	 On	June	3,	2013,	Mary	Benassi	was	appointed	to	the	position	of	Vice	President,	Human	Resources	and	is	responsible	for	
WesternZagros’s overall human resources function. 

Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”)
•	 WesternZagros	runs	its	business	in	the	PSC	Lands	so	that	stakeholders	benefit	from	the	presence	of	the	oil	and	natural	

gas industry. This is achieved on the ground through CSR aspects that create mutual benefits. In 2013, the Company 
advanced this goal by supporting local employment, water supply, education, health care, agriculture and recreation. 
Specific CSR activities included construction and refurbishment work on schools, health clinics, meeting halls and sports 
fields, as well as irrigation and road work initiatives.

•	 WesternZagros	employs	more	than	600	full	and	part-time	permanent	local	Kurdish	employees	and	service	contractors	to	
support its operations in corporate offices in the Kurdistan Region, in camps in the Garmian Block, and in Sarqala EWT 
production facilities on the Garmian Block. 

•	 WesternZagros	endeavours	to	utilize	local	vendor	services	for	infrastructure	and	consumables	purchases,	construction,	
local vehicle and equipment rentals, local support services and contractor staffing. The Company spent in excess of $19 
million on these services in 2013. 

•	 WesternZagros	remains	committed	to	these	efforts	in	2014	and	appreciates	the	continued	support	and	assistance	of	both	
the KRG and its co-venturers.

financial performance

Selected annual information

(US$ thousands, unless otherwise specified)

2013 2012 2011

Total Interest Revenue 316 123 92

Net Loss 2,032 10,287 6,873

Net Loss Per Share (US$ Per Share) 0.00 0.03 0.02

(Basic and Fully Diluted)

E&E Expenditures(1) 131,595 106,241 95,557

Oil Sales Proceeds from Extended Well Test(2) 247 39,632 12,879

Total Assets 571,165 424,375 339,439

Total Non-Current Liabilities 88,314 4,413 1,903

Dividends (US$ Per Share) nil Nil Nil

(1) E&E expenditures are prior to change in non-cash investing activities, and do not reflect proceeds received upon assignment of the TPPI, settlement of EWT 
production sharing terms, insurance recoveries nor disposal of E&E assets.

(2) Includes gross proceeds from the sale of crude oil from the extended well test on Sarqala-1 for the period of October 27, 2011, to May 28, 2012, prior to the retroactive 
application of the Garmian production sharing terms in the third quarter of 2012.

General and Administrative Expenses
For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros expensed $12.7 million in general and administrative expenses (“G&A”) 
as compared to $11.0 million for the comparable period in 2012. G&A expenses were higher in 2013 due to increased 
professional fees, including initial costs incurred in relation to analyzing and considering the possibility of admittance to the 
Standard Listing segment of the Official List of the London Stock Exchange, higher stock-based compensation costs as 
compared to 2012, and higher office costs associated with the increased level of exploration and appraisal activities. Increased 
personnel and associated costs in 2013 were offset by a greater amount of capitalized administrative costs.
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros capitalized $4.6 million of G&A (2012: $4.2 million), including the 
capitalized portion of share-based payments. The amounts capitalized are directly related to the supervision of the Company’s 
exploration and evaluation activities. 

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (“DD&A”)
For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros had $0.2 million of depreciation related to certain administrative assets, 
as compared to $0.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2012. No depletion of E&E assets will be recognized until such 
time that the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated and development has been sanctioned, in 
which case the applicable E&E assets would be tested for impairment and reclassified as development expenditures and then 
depleted on a unit of production basis. 

Stock Based Compensation
The Company recognizes the expense associated with share-based payments on a graded vesting basis for all stock options 
granted. For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros recorded $1.9 million in stock based compensation expense 
(2012: $1.4 million) and $1.0 million as part of capitalized G&A (2012: $1.0 million), with a corresponding increase to contributed 
surplus. The increased stock-based compensation recognized in 2013 was due to the increased fair value attributed to options 
granted during 2013 as compared to the prior year.

Derivative Liabilities Gain
In accordance with IFRS, the Canadian denominated convertible notes issued during the second quarter of 2013 are considered 
to contain an embedded derivative since the functional currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. As such, the convertible 
option was separated and recognized at fair value as a non-current financial liability with changes in fair value recorded in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. As a result of the fair value change between the original issuance date and 
December 31, 2013, WesternZagros recognized a non-cash gain of $15.8 million in relation to the embedded derivative 
liabilities.

Financing Costs
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company incurred $7.6 million of financing costs (2012: $Nil), which was comprised 
of $6.9 million of accretion and interest incurred in association with the convertible notes issued during the second quarter of 
2013 as well as $0.7 million of interest expense relating to the Crest loan originally received in the first quarter of 2013 and fully 
repaid during the second quarter of 2013. Non-cash accretion costs relate to both the calculated fair value of the embedded 
derivative liabilities upon issuance and the transaction costs incurred in regards to the convertible notes which together are 
accreted over the term of the convertible notes (i.e. to December 31, 2015, where the holders of the notes have not exercised 
their conversion rights).

In accordance with IFRS, the Company is not entitled to capitalize any of its borrowing costs as part of E&E expenditures. 
Therefore, all borrowing costs have been expensed as financing costs within the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss 
for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Foreign Exchange
WesternZagros adopted the U.S. dollar as its measurement and reporting currency since the majority of its expenditures are, 
or will be, directly or indirectly denominated in U.S. dollars and to facilitate a more direct comparison to other international 
crude oil and natural gas exploration and development companies. 

As at December 31, 2013, WesternZagros held more than 90 percent of its cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments in U.S. dollar accounts and U.S. dollar overnight and term deposits. The Company does hold Canadian dollar 
balances for the purpose of funding WesternZagros’s Canadian dollar expenditures, which are mainly related to the costs 
associated with general and administrative costs for its head office and certain drilling-related services and tangible equipment 
procured from Canadian suppliers. For financial statement presentation purposes, WesternZagros converts other currencies to 
U.S. dollars at the end of each period resulting in foreign exchange gains and losses. 

The Company also has certain other assets and liabilities in currencies other that the U.S. dollar, mainly the Cdn$100 million 
convertible notes and associated derivative financial liabilities issued during the second quarter of 2013. For financial statement 
purposes, WesternZagros converts other assets and liabilities in other currencies to U.S. dollars at the end of each reporting 
period resulting in foreign exchange gains and losses.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros recorded a $2.2 million foreign exchange gain relating to these 
conversions (2012: $Nil), mainly due to the decreased U.S. dollar value of the debt component of the Canadian denominated 
convertible notes as at December 31, 2013, as compared to the comparable U.S. dollar value at issuance. 
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As at December 31, 2013, had the US Dollar changed by one percent against the Canadian Dollar, with all other variables held 
constant, the Company’s foreign exchange gain or loss would have been affected by approximately $0.9 million (2012: $0.1 
million). It is expected that if the Canadian dollar were to appreciate against the U.S. dollar in the future, the Company would 
incur a net foreign exchange loss due to the Canadian denominated debt, but would be partially offset by foreign exchange 
gains associated with any Canadian denominated monetary assets held by the Company.

Income Taxes 
For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros had a current income tax recovery of $0.1 million (2012: $0.7 million) 
related to non-capital losses incurred in the current year that are expected to result in the full recovery of the remaining 
portion of taxes paid in a prior period. 

The Company received proceeds of $0.7 million for net prior year tax recoveries during the year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011: $1.8 million).

Other Income
WesternZagros’s other income is comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investment balances. Interest of $0.3 million was earned for the year ending December 31, 2013 (2012: $0.1 million).

Net Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros recorded a net loss of $2.0 million compared to a net loss of $10.3 
million for the same period of 2012. The decreased net loss in 2013 was due to a non-cash derivative liabilities gain and foreign 
exchange gains, partially offset by increased financing costs and increased general and administrative expenses as compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2012. 

WesternZagros is an early stage development enterprise and, apart from its working interest in the Kurdamir and Garmian 
PSCs, cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, the Company has no other significant assets. 

Capital Expenditures
WesternZagros’s share of E&E expenditures during 2013 included 50 percent of Garmian Block costs and 60 percent of 
Kurdamir Block costs. For the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros’s share for these PSC activities and other 
capitalized costs was $131.6 million, comprised of $95.1 million of drilling-related costs ($58.4 million on the Garmian Block and 
$36.7 million on the Kurdamir Block); $20.9 million in other appraisal costs including the seismic programs on the Kurdamir 
Block and the southern portion of the Garmian Block as well as costs associated with the Sarqala EWT; $7.9 million of 
exploration costs including the North Garmian seismic program and other geological and geosciences related work; and $7.7 
million for supervision, local office costs and other PSC-related costs. The Company’s portion of Garmian Block drilling related 
costs for the year ended December 31, 2013, included $24.2 million for Hasira-1, $22.7 million for Baram-1 and $11.5 million for 
other drilling-related activities. 

By comparison, WesternZagros’s share of capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2012, included 60 percent of 
the Kurdamir Block activities, 100 percent of Garmian Block costs to June 30, 2012, prior to the allocation of the TPPI to 
Gazprom Neft by the KRG, and 50 percent share of the Garmian Block costs subsequent to June 30, 2012. For the year ended 
December 31, 2012, WesternZagros’s share of costs associated with the Garmian and Kurdamir PSC activities and other 
capitalized costs was $106.2 million. Expenditures for the year included $80.6 million of drilling-related costs ($25.9 million on 
the Garmian Block and $54.7 million on the Kurdamir Block); $15.5 million related to the costs associated with operating the 
Sarqala EWT and other appraisal activities, including the South Garmian seismic program; $0.8 million of geological and 
geosciences related work; $6.8 million for supervision and local office costs; and $2.5 million for PSC-related costs. 

Upon assignment of the TPPI in the Garmian Block by the KRG during the third quarter of 2012, the Company received $82.9 
million from Gazprom Neft in relation to the TPPI’s estimated back costs for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012, net of 
Cost Recovery Oil due to Gazprom Neft upon application of the Garmian PSC terms to gross deemed sales from the Sarqala-1 
EWT during the period of October 2011 to May 2012. All subsequent costs incurred for Garmian PSC activities for the 
remainder of 2012 were funded equally by WesternZagros and Gazprom Neft. The proceeds received were credited against the 
Company’s E&E expenditures.

Also upon assignment of the TPPI during the third quarter of 2012, the Company paid the KRG $26.4 million due to the 
retroactive application of the terms of the Garmian PSC for the deemed gross sales from the Sarqala-1 EWT during the period 
October 2011 to May 2012. This net settlement was debited against the Company’s E&E expenditures.

The Sarqala-1 EWT is currently halted and there was no production during the year ended December 31, 2013. However, under 
the auspices of the KRG’s Ministry of Natural Resources, the Company sold approximately 3,800 barrels of oil inventory from 
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tankage into the Kurdistan Region domestic market during May 2013 and received $0.3 million of gross proceeds ($0.07 
million of net proceeds to WesternZagros). 

The Sarqala-1 EWT had originally commenced during the fourth quarter of 2011 and resulted in the Company’s sales of test oil 
into the local Kurdistan Region domestic market from October 2011 to May 2012, under the auspices of the Ministry of Natural 
Resources. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company executed five sales contracts and received gross payments 
totalling $39.6 million (gross sales of test oil during the three months ended December 31, 2011, totalled $12.9 million). Upon 
assignment of the TPPI in the third quarter of 2012, the amended Garmian PSC provided for the production sharing terms of 
the PSC to be retroactively applied to the production from the Sarqala-1 EWT during the period October 2011 to May 2012, for 
which the Company had collected a total of $52.5 million in gross proceeds. Upon retroactive application of the production 
sharing terms of the Amended Garmian PSC in the third quarter of 2012, the Company retained a net entitlement of $14.9 
million for the inception-to-date sales of test oil after settling the net entitlements owed to both the KRG and Gazprom Neft 
(WesternZagros retained approximately $3.5 million for the three month period ended December 31, 2011 and $11.5 million for 
the five month period ended May 31, 2012). The Company was in the exploration stage and the proceeds received, net of costs, 
were credited against E&E expenditures.

After the Sarqala-1 EWT was suspended in May 2012, the Company began planned well repairs which were then completed in 
July 2012. Temporary approval from the Ministry of Natural Resources to recommence the Sarqala-1 EWT was not received until 
November 8, 2012. Upon direction from the KRG, the Company then temporarily delivered test production for export from the 
Kurdistan Region via Iraqi controlled pipeline infrastructure. The Company delivered a total of approximately 88,000 bbls 
(gross) of test production prior to halting the EWT again on November 27, 2012, per further direction from the KRG. Oil exports 
via Iraqi controlled pipeline infrastructure from the Kurdistan Region were halted until further progress is made with the Iraqi 
Government with regards to the ongoing payment issues for oil exports from the Kurdistan Region. The Company expects its 
net entitlement to be based on the terms of the Garmian PSC but it has not been paid for the oil that was delivered for export. 
There is uncertainty relating to the amount and the timing of proceeds due for this oil. Accordingly, the Company has not 
recorded any receivable for the value of the Company’s net entitlement and consequently no associated credit to E&E 
expenditures. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in this MD&A.

Quarterly information 

The following table summarizes key financial information on a quarterly basis for the 2013 and 2012 fiscal periods:

(US$ thousands, unless otherwise specified)

year ended Three Month Periods Ended

dec 31, 2013 Dec 31, 2013 Sep 30, 2013 Jun 30, 2013 Mar 31, 2013

Revenue 316 120 103 60 33

Net Loss (Income) 2,032 1,519 (3,144) (500) 4,157

Net Loss Per Share (US$ Per Share) – – (0.01) – 0.01

(Basic and Fully Diluted)

E&E Expenditures(1) 131,595 27,742 45,214 35,980 22,659

Gross Oil Sales Proceeds from EWT 247 Nil Nil 247 Nil

Total Assets 571,165 571,165 578,140 581,929 517,750

Total Non-Current Liabilities 88,314 88,314 91,403 96,371 62,446

Dividend (US$ per Share) nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
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(US$ thousands, unless otherwise specified)

year ended Three Month Periods Ended

dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2012 Sep 30, 2012 Jun 30, 2012 Mar 31, 2012

Revenue 123 48 30 20 25

Net Loss 10,287 3,326 2,677 2,287 1,997

Net Loss Per Share (US$ Per Share) 0.03 0.01 0.01 0.01 –

(Basic and Fully Diluted)

E&E Expenditures(1) 106,241 31,169 16,486 23,854 34,732

Oil Sales Proceeds from Extended Well Test(2) 39,632 Nil Nil 13,690 25,942

Total Assets 424,375 424,375 395,507 329,655 335,109

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,413 4,413 1,384 2,007 1,854

Dividend (US$ per Share) nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

(1) E&E expenditures as presented are prior to change in non-cash investing capital, insurance recoveries, recovery of estimated back costs upon allocation of the TPPI, 
disposals and gross proceeds received and payments made related to extended well test sales.

(2) Includes proceeds from the sale of crude oil from the extended well test on Sarqala-1 for the period of October 27 to December 31, 2011, and from January 1 to May 
28, 2012. During the third quarter of 2012, $26.4 million was remitted to the KRG upon the retroactive application of the Garmian PSC terms.

Fourth Quarter
In the fourth quarter of 2013, WesternZagros had a net loss of $1.5 million in comparison to the fourth quarter of 2012 net loss 
of $3.3 million. The non-cash derivative liabilities gain, the foreign exchange gain related to the debt component of the 
convertible notes and reduced general and administrative expenses in the fourth quarter of 2013 more than offset the 
increased financing costs as compared to the same period of 2012. General and administrative costs in the fourth quarter  
of 2012 included initial costs incurred in relation to analyzing and considering the possibility of admittance to the Standard 
Listing segment of the Official List of the London Stock Exchange. 

WesternZagros’s E&E expenditures totaled $27.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared to $31.2 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2012. The decrease in the fourth quarter of 2013 was primarily due to reduced expenditures in regards to activities 
carried out on the Kurdamir Block. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company’s 50 percent funding for the Garmian Block 
related mainly to ongoing drilling activities for Hasira-1 and Baram-1 while the Company’s 60 percent funding for the Kurdamir 
Block related to Kurdamir-3 drilling and testing activities, mostly offset by a reduction of prior period estimated accruals. In 
comparison, during the fourth quarter of 2012 the Company’s 60 percent funding for the Kurdamir Block related mainly to 
Kurdamir-2 testing and completion activities while the Company’s 50 percent funding for the Garmian Block related to the 
South Garmian 3D seismic program and certain long lead drilling items related to Hasira-1 and Baram-1, both of which were 
spudded in 2013.

garmian and kurdamir production Sharing contractS:  
Summary and commitmentS

Under the terms of its Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs, WesternZagros has a 40 percent working interest in each PSC and the 
KRG has a 20 percent working interest in both PSCs. The remaining 40 percent working interest in the Kurdamir PSC is held  
by Talisman. On August 1, 2012, the remaining 40 percent TPPI in the Garmian PSC was assigned to Gazprom Neft by the KRG. 
WesternZagros, the KRG and Talisman for the Kurdamir PSC and WesternZagros, the KRG, and the Gazprom Neft for the 
Garmian PSC, are each a “Contractor Group” for the respective blocks. 
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WesternZagros has completed its PSC exploration commitments, summarized as follows:

kurdamir pSc garmian pSc

First exploration sub-period 
(completed)

August 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Exploration obligation Kurdamir-2 (completed) Mil Qasim-1 exploration well 
(completed)

Second exploration sub-period Additional two years Additional two years

Exploration obligation Kurdamir-3 (completed) Baram-1 (completed)

Other extensions Six month extension One year extension

Work commitments One well Three wells (extension not pursued by 
the co-venturers)

PSC payments Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil; 
$1.1 million annual payments

Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil; 
$0.6 million annual payments

Operator Talisman WesternZagros(1)

Working interest WesternZagros 40% WesternZagros 40%

Talisman 40% Gazprom Neft 40%

KRG 20%(2) KRG 20%(2)

(1) Pursuant to the terms of the Garmian PSC, at the end of the Exploration Period, operatorship is to transition from WesternZagros to Gazprom Neft, with the parties 
anticipating the transfer of operatorship to be completed by December 31, 2014. 

(2) WesternZagros funds 100% of the KRG costs on the Kurdamir Block and 50% of the KRG costs on the Garmian Block, ultimately to be recovered by WesternZagros 
though the KRG’s share of Cost Recovery Oil, which, pursuant to the terms of the Company PSCs will be paid to WesternZagros.

The Company is currently in the second exploration sub-period of the Kurdamir PSC. The Kurdamir-3 well and the Kurdamir 
seismic program carried out in 2013 have satisfied the Company’s minimum obligations relating to the second exploration 
sub-period under the Kurdamir PSC. The Company has committed to expenditures of approximately $19 million, under 
approved expenditures, to meet its 60 percent funding requirement related to planned Kurdamir Block activities, which 
includes the Company’s portion of extended well testing costs for Kurdamir-2, future well planning and long leads, other 
appraisal activities, development planning and the associated supervision and local office support costs for Kurdamir Block 
activities to December 31, 2014. 

The Company has concluded the second exploration sub-period of the Garmian PSC with the completion of drilling and testing 
activities at Baram-1. The Company, along with its co-venturers, submitted a declaration of commerciality to the KRG on 
December 23, 2013 for the Sarqala discovery. The KRG has accepted the declaration of commerciality and, accordingly, the 
development period of the Garmian PSC commences effective December 23, 2013. As per the Garmian PSC, within 180 days 
(i.e. June 21, 2014) the Company and its co-venturers are required to submit to the KRG a development plan outlining how the 
field and other discoveries on the Garmian Block will be developed, including future development wells, production facilities 
and support infrastructure.

As part of transitioning to development, WesternZagros, its co-venturer, Gazprom Neft, and the KRG have agreed to end 
exploration expenditure on the Garmian Block following the completion of the Hasira-1 well. As such, the Company has no 
further exploration expenditure obligations and will now be able to apply its focus and financial resources on development. 
Under the terms of the Declaration of Commerciality, the partners will relinquish prospects on the Garmian Block that are not 
covered by the development plan, such as Chwar, Qula, Qulijan and Baram which are considered non-core to WestenZagros’s 
development plans. 

Garmian and Kurdamir Production Sharing Contracts: Production

The Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs provide each respective Contractor Group with the exclusive right to develop and produce 
any commercial discoveries. A development area encompasses any discoveries made prior to the end of the exploration 
period. The development period for producing a commercial discovery is an initial term of 20 years from the date of declaring 
a commercial discovery with a further automatic right to a five year extension. If commercial production is possible at the end 
of the last period then the Contractor Group shall be entitled to an extension of a further five years under the same terms as in 
the applicable PSC if a request is made by the Contractor Group at least six months before the end of the first five year 
extension. 
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Pursuant to the terms of the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs, WesternZagros maintains the right to market its share of oil on the 
world market. There is an obligation under the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs to make oil production available to meet regional 
market demand. Pursuant to the terms of the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs, the price for natural gas is based on the actual 
price obtained at the delivery point, and ultimate sales contracts and final sales prices are subject to KRG approval. Limited 
markets exist for natural gas within Iraq and there is limited infrastructure for export and no such price for natural gas has yet 
to be established in Kurdistan. The KRG has the expansion of its electricity generation as one of its priorities and is pursuing a 
number of projects that may expand these markets and the demand for natural gas.

Garmian and Kurdamir Production Sharing Contracts: Commercial Terms

The sharing of oil production occurs as follows: of the total oil produced, operations oil is available to the Contract Group for 
use in carrying out its obligations under the PSCs; the remaining oil is subject to a 10 percent royalty payable to the KRG (the 
residual is considered to be “net available oil”). Up to 45 percent of the net available oil is available for cost recovery with the 
remainder as “profit oil”. Costs subject to cost recovery include all costs and expenditures incurred by the Contractor Group 
for exploration, development, production and decommissioning operations, as well as any other costs and expenditures 
incurred directly or indirectly with these activities. The portion of profit oil available to the Contractor Group is based on a 
sliding scale from 35 percent to 16 percent depending on a calculated R-Factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to the 
ratio of cumulative revenues over cumulative costs. When the ratio is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 35 percent 
of the profit oil. The percentage is then reduced on a linear sliding scale to a minimum of 16 percent at an R-Factor ratio of two 
or greater. 

The production sharing terms for non-associated natural gas are the same as the oil production sharing terms except that the 
net available gas available for cost recovery is 55 percent and the profit sharing component is on a different scale. For natural 
gas, the portion of profit natural gas available for the Contractor Group is based on a sliding scale from 40 percent to 20 
percent depending on a calculated R-factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to the ratio of the Contractor Group’s 
cumulative revenue over cumulative costs. When the R-Factor is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 40 percent of 
the profit oil. The Contractor Group’s percentage is then reduced on a linear scale to a minimum of 20 percent at a ratio of 2.75 
or greater. The production sharing terms for associated natural gas are included as part of the oil production sharing terms, 
except such associated gas sales are exempt from the 10 percent royalty.

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately $185 million related to the Garmian PSC and $195 million relating to 
the Kurdamir PSC, both net to WesternZagros, of recoverable costs available that may ultimately be recovered from future 
crude oil or natural gas sales in accordance with the PSCs. Pursuant to the terms of the PSCs, these estimated cost pools are 
subject to government audit. 

Other Commitments 
The Company has entered into various contracts, including contracts for drilling equipment, services and other tangible 
equipment. The following table summarizes the Company’s portion of estimated commitments in relation to these contracts 
relating to the Garmian Block operations and other contractual obligations at December 31, 2013: 

(US$ thousands, unless otherwise specified)

for the years ending december 31

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018+ total

Drilling rigs $ 12,000 $ 8,000 – – – $ 20,000

Equipment and 
services

8,700 – – – – 8,700

Office 1,060 1,240 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 – 4,800

$ 21,760 $ 9,240 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 – $ 33,500

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company executed a two year drilling contract for two drilling rigs for which the 
Company’s portion is a minimum commitment has been included in the table above. In respect of the drilling contract, the 
Company has placed as security its portion of a deposit held in trust of $20 million. 

legal proceedingS

WesternZagros is not a party to any legal proceeding nor was it a party to, nor is or was any of its property the subject of any 
legal proceeding, during the year ended December 31, 2013, nor is management of the Company aware of any such 
contemplated legal proceeding, which involves a claim for damages, exclusive of interest and costs, that exceeds 10 percent of 
the current assets of WesternZagros other than as set forth below. 
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From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal or administrative proceedings in the normal conduct of 
business. The Company is currently in an arbitration proceeding under the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules with a former 
contractor who cannot be named as the arbitration proceeding is confidential. The proceeding is in relation to a consulting 
contract that the Company and the contractor agreed to terminate in 2011 for US$7.5 million, which amount has been 
recognized in the Company’s financial statements. On October 20, 2011, WesternZagros was provided with a notice of 
arbitration from the contractor challenging the validity of the termination agreement and seeking additional compensation for 
the termination of the contract. The parties have completed the first phase of arbitration hearings in respect of the validity of 
the termination agreement pursuant to which the arbitration panel found in favour of the contractor and are now proceeding 
into the next phase of hearings where the contractor is seeking damages for wrongful termination of the contract. The 
Company believes that the quantum of damages sought by the contractor, which is significantly higher than the original 
amount agreed to, is without merit based on its analysis of the dispute and including the fact that the arbitration panel stated 
in its findings in the first phase of the arbitration hearings that “a Party claiming that this value should be significantly different 
from the value that the Parties themselves attributed to it at the time (i.e. USD 7.5 million) should have a good reason to do 
so”. However, given that the second phase of the hearings has not yet taken place, there is no certainty as to the quantum of 
damages which may be awarded by the arbitration panel.

off-Balance Sheet arrangementS

The Company does not presently utilize any off-balance sheet arrangements to enhance its liquidity and capital resource 
positions, or for any other purpose. During the year ended December 31, 2013, WesternZagros did not enter into any off-
balance sheet transactions.

outlook

In 2014, WesternZagros will focus on the completion of the appraisal and development activities and the advancement of 
development plans on the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks. With the declaration of commerciality on the Garmian Block, the 
Company is progressing towards bringing production on from its Sarqala discovery and anticipates that this will happen 
subsequent to the submission of the development plan. On the Kurdamir Block the Company is completing the appraisal 
program and is bringing in test production equipment to conduct a further 30 day flow test in the Kurdamir-2 well in the 
second quarter of 2014, while at the same time working with the operator on the submission of a declaration of commerciality 
and development plan. 

As part of transitioning to development, WesternZagros, its co-venturer, Gazprom Neft, and the KRG have agreed to end 
exploration expenditure on the Garmian Block following the completion of the Hasira-1 well. As such, the Company has no 
further exploration expenditure obligations and will now be able to apply its focus and financial resources on development. 
Under the terms of the Declaration of Commerciality, the partners will relinquish undrilled prospects in the Garmian Block that 
are not covered by the development plan, such as Chwar, Qula, Quilijan and Baram, which are considered non-core to 
WesternZagros’s development plans. 

During the preparation of the development plan and its approval by the KRG, and in order to minimise short-term expenses, 
WesternZagros is in advanced discussions with the KRG and Gazprom Neft to temporarily assign two of its contracted drilling 
rigs elsewhere for the remainder of 2014. Under this arrangement, the rigs would return to the Company’s Garmian Block for 
development drilling on Sarqala in early 2015 once the development plan is approved and additional development locations 
are prepared. Under the development terms of the Garmian Block contract, WesternZagros’s operatorship is expected to 
transfer to Gazprom Neft by December 31, 2014.

The Company and Gazprom Neft, are advancing the development plan and have established a dedicated team to complete 
this work by the submission deadline of June 21, 2014. Current facilities at Sarqala can support production levels of at least 
10,000 bbl/d, and a workover of the Sarqala-1 well has commenced with the objective of increasing the production capacity up 
to 10,000 bbl/d. These facilities may also be expanded to handle any additional volumes of crude oil that Hasira-1 may support 
if testing is successful from that well.

The second phase of the development will focus on the construction of centralized production facilities and future wells for  
the Sarqala discovery that could support 25,000 to 35,000 bbl/d of oil production. Additional phases for the Sarqala discovery 
may be added as future wells appraise the ultimate extent of the reservoir. Work is continuing on opportunities  
to utilize the associated natural gas from any future crude oil production to minimize the flaring. 

On the Kurdamir Block, a declaration of commerciality is anticipated to be made within the next 12 months. The Company 
continues to work with Talisman on the completion of the appraisal program and pre-development planning. Activities during 
2014 will include completion of the interpretation of the 3D seismic program over the Kurdamir structure, the 30 day extended 
well test at the Kurdamir-2 well (anticipated in the second quarter of 2014), and securing a site and long lead materials for a 
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future horizontal well. In preparing the development plan the Company is focused on applying the same phased approach that 
is being utilized on the Garmian Block, with early production achieved using the extended well testing equipment. Subsequent 
phases will then focus on the construction of centralized production facilities and the drilling of development wells targeting 
initial production levels of 25,000 to 35,000 barrels per day. Additional phases will then be completed as further development 
wells are drilled on the approximately 1 billion barrels of gross unrisked contingent resources of oil equivalent.

The Company’s portion of planned expenditures related to Garmian Block activities for 2014 include $15 million for the 
completion of the Hasira-1 and Baram-1 wells, $5 million for the Sarqala-1 workover, $5 million for the Kurdamir-2 EWT 
activities, $15 million for Garmian and Kurdamir development planning, $20 million for supervision, local office costs and  
other Garmian and Kurdamir PSC-related costs, and $10 million for other Corporate costs. 

liQuidity and capital reSourceS

As at December 31, 2013, WesternZagros had $97.2 million in working capital, which is sufficient for funding the completion of 
its exploration and appraisal activities on the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks. WesternZagros invests its cash and cash 
equivalents and short-term investments with major Canadian financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings and in 
Government of Canada instruments in accordance with an Investment Policy approved by the Board of Directors. The other 
income generated during 2013 was comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalent balances and short-term 
investments. 

WesternZagros and its co-venturers on the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks are currently preparing staged development plans 
with early production systems to supply both oil and natural gas to either the domestic or export markets. With the submission 
of the development plan on the Garmian Block, which is anticipated by the end of the second quarter of 2014, WesternZagros 
will be requesting to commence the production and sale of crude oil from Sarqala-1.

Further funding will be required by WesternZagros as it moves from exploration into the development stage on its properties. 
WesternZagros is continually evaluating the various alternatives available to it to satisfy such future funding needs while it 
progresses the development plans. These alternatives may include accessing the debt and/or equity markets, additional 
partnerships, farmouts or other strategic arrangements. In determining which course of action to pursue, the Company  
will monitor and assess all relevant factors, including the following:

•	 The	timing	of	submission	and	approval	for	development	plans;

•	 The	expected	timing	and	scope	of	development	activities;

•	 The	ability	to	export	or	to	sell	into	the	domestic	markets	oil	and	natural	gas	in	accordance	with	the	economic	 
terms of the PSCs; 

•	 The	ability	to	generate	cash	flow	from	early	production;

•	 The	current	conditions	in	the	financial	markets,	including	the	potential	for	further	market	instability;	

•	 The	ability	to	access	debt,	and	the	costs	thereof,	for	development	activities	in	Kurdistan;	and

•	 The	timing	for	repayment	of	outstanding	debt.

outStanding Share data 

As at December 31, 2013, there were 475,099,146 shares issued and outstanding. The number of common shares reserved  
for issuance pursuant to options granted will not exceed 10 percent of the issued and outstanding common shares. 

For the year ended December 31, 2013, there were 6,149,000 options granted, 5,438,335 options expired or forfeited and 
566,899 options exercised for common shares by officers, employees or contractors, bringing the total stock options 
outstanding as of December 31, 2013 to 26,332,016. Subsequent to December 31, 2013, there were 178,667 options forfeited  
by directors, employees and contractors, bringing the total options outstanding as at the date of the MD&A to 26,153,349.

riSk factorS 

The oil and gas industry is very competitive and is subject to many risks. Many of these risks are outside of WesternZagros’s 
control. The ability of WesternZagros to successfully carry out its business plan is primarily dependent upon the continued 
support of its shareholders, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, meeting all commitments under the PSCs, the 
resolution of remaining political disputes in Iraq, progress on the federal petroleum law and the ability to export oil and natural 
gas from the Kurdistan Region in accordance with the economic terms under the PSCs, the state of the capital markets, the 
ability of WesternZagros to obtain financing as required to develop reserves, and the receipt of proceeds from future oil and 
gas sales (if any). Management of WesternZagros has identified certain key risks and their potential impact on 
WesternZagros’s operations. 
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For further information on risk factors affecting the business of WesternZagros, see “Risk Factors” relating to the Company as 
referenced in the March 13, 2014 Annual Information Form (“AIF”).

critical accounting eStimateS 

WesternZagros’s critical accounting estimates are defined as those estimates that have a significant impact on the portrayal  
of its financial position and operations and that require management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates in the 
application of IFRS. Judgments, assumptions and estimates are based on historical experience and other factors that 
management believes to be reasonable under current conditions. As events occur and additional information is obtained,  
these judgments, assumptions and estimates may be subject to change. WesternZagros believes the following are the critical 
accounting estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements, which can also be found in Note 5 to the 
December 31, 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Such estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. 
Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. Significant estimates 
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, recovery of asset carrying 
values, exploration and evaluation expenditures, provision for decommissioning liabilities, income taxes, share-based payments 
and derivative financial liabilities.

Recoverability of asset carrying values
At each reporting date, the Company assesses its exploration and evaluation and property, plant and equipment expenditures 
for possible impairment if events or circumstances indicate the carrying values of the assets might not be recoverable. 
Relevant indicators include the following: the continued progression of Management’s operational plans; new information 
obtained from wells that have been drilled or tested; changes or restrictions in access to drilling sites; changes in legal, 
regulatory, market, environmental, technological, or political factors that could impact ongoing operations; the ability of the 
Company to continue fulfilling ongoing commitments; and significant changes in the Company’s market value.

If factors indicate that the Company may need to recognize impairment, the carrying value of the assets for each cash-
generating-unit is compared to the greater of value-in-use or fair-value less costs to sell. The determination of the value-in-use 
amount, which is based on discounted future cash flows, and any resulting impairment involves the use of significant estimates 
and assumptions about future events and factors such as future commodity prices, the impact of inflation on operating 
expenses, discount rates, production profiles, the ability to produce and export crude oil and natural gas, the future capital 
costs needed to develop reserves, as well as the future marketability and availability of transportation for crude oil and natural 
gas that is produced.

As at the reporting date, the Company has not recognized any impairment for E&E expenditures nor for property, plant,  
and equipment. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures
Applicable exploration costs incurred continue to be carried as E&E expenditures until such time that the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of the crude oil and natural gas hydrocarbons has been demonstrated. At each reporting date, the 
Company assesses whether the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated in order to determine if 
the E&E expenditures should then be assessed for impairment and transferred to development expenditures. 

Determining the classification of E&E expenditures versus development expenditures requires significant judgement. Whether 
the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated is assessed on an ongoing basis by the Company.  
At each reporting date, WesternZagros assesses a combination of relevant factors which includes, but is not limited to, a 
declaration of commerciality, uninterrupted and regular sales of production, approval of a development plan and the 
recognition of reserves by a qualified independent reserves evaluator. The Company submitted a declaration of commerciality 
with regards to the Sarqala discovery on the Garmian Block to the KRG on December 23, 2013. The Company and its co-
venturers are progressing with a development plan for the Sarqala discovery for submission to the KRG, outlining how the field 
will be developed. As at the reporting date, the Company does not yet believe that is has demonstrated the commercial 
viability and technical feasibility of its properties based upon the requirement to complete a development plan prior to 
beginning production. 
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Prior to the conclusion of the E&E phase, any production is considered to be test production and any associated proceeds 
received, net of applicable costs, are credited to E&E expenditures when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
passed and the value of those sales can be reliably measured. For sales of test production into the Kurdistan domestic market, 
for which proceeds have been received in advance from the buyers, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to 
E&E expenditures upon delivery of the associated test production. In regards to test production delivered for export from the 
Kurdistan Region, for which the payment mechanism is still developing, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a 
credit to E&E expenditures upon the receipt of any associated proceeds. 

Provision for decommissioning obligations
The Company recognizes both an asset and a provision for decommissioning obligations in the period in which they are 
incurred by estimating the fair value of the obligation. The Company has chosen to base the fair value calculations on a 
risk-free discount rate, rather than a credit-adjusted risk-free rate, which is a critical accounting judgement under IFRS. 
Provisions for environmental clean-up and remediation costs associated with the Company’s drilling operations are based  
on current legal and constructive requirements, technology, price levels and expected plans for remediation. Actual costs and 
cash outflows and the timing of those cash outflows can differ from estimates because of changes in laws and regulations, 
public expectations, prices, discovery and analysis of site conditions, future performance of wells drilled, and changes in 
clean-up technology. Estimating the timing and amount of cash outflows required to settle these obligations are inherently 
difficult and are based on Management’s current experience. Any differences between actual and estimated decommissioning 
obligations would impact both the asset and the provision, which would then impact future depreciation of the asset as well  
as accretion on the provision.

Income tax
Tax regulations and legislation and the interpretations thereof in the jurisdictions that the Company operates are subject to 
change. As such, income taxes are subject to measurement uncertainty. Deferred income tax assets are assessed by 
Management based on all available information at the end of the reporting period to determine the likelihood that they will  
be realized from future taxable earnings. 

Share-based payments
The estimates, assumptions, and judgements made in relation to the fair value of share-based payments and the associated 
expense recognition is subject to measurement uncertainty. The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a Black 
Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, 
expected volatility, expected life of the instrument, expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate.

Derivative financial liabilities
The estimates, assumptions, and judgements made in relation to the fair value of embedded derivative liabilities and the 
associated impact on the initial carrying value of convertible notes and subsequent accretion is subject to measurement 
uncertainty. The fair value of embedded derivative liabilities was measured using a model specific to the valuation of 
convertible notes that utilized a partial differential equation method. Measurement inputs include market price on 
measurement date, exercise price applicable to the conversion feature of the convertible notes, expected volatility of the 
Company’s share price, expected life of the instrument, expected dividends, the risk-free interest rate, the Company’s credit 
rating and the effect of dilution.
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recent accounting procouncmentS 

WesternZagros has adopted the following applicable IFRS standards, interpretations and amendments which became effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, the adoption of which had no material impact to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements:

iaS 19 – employee Benefits

IAS 19 has been amended to revise the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements for defined benefit plans. 

ifrS 10 – consolidated financial Statements

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Under previous IFRS, consolidation was required when an entity had the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaced IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” and SIC-12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities”. 

ifrS 11 – Joint arrangements

IFRS 11 established principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement, and requires entities to classify interests 
in joint arrangements as either a joint venture or a joint operation. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting whereas for joint operations the entity recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the 
joint operation. IFRS 11 replaced IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC-13 “Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Venturers”. 

ifrS 12 – disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 12 established disclosure requirements relating to an entity’s interests in other entities such as joint arrangements, 
associates or unconsolidated structured entities, including special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The 
standard carried forward previous disclosure requirements and also introduced significant additional disclosure requirements 
that address the nature and risk associated with interests in other entities. 

ifrS 13 – fair value measurements

IFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a single comprehensive IFRS framework for measuring fair value and the required 
disclosures about fair value measurements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is  
the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, at the measurement date. IFRS 13 was intended to eliminate the inconsistencies in fair value measurement and  
the disclosure requirements contained in various other IFRS standards that refer to fair value. 

The following applicable mandatory standards, interpretations and amendments as issued by the IASB become effective  
on or after January 1, 2014, none of which are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements:

iaS 32 – financial instruments: presentation

The amendments to IAS 32 issued in December 2011 clarify the meaning of the offsetting criterion and the principle behind  
net settlement, including identifying when some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. 
The amendments will only affect disclosure and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 

iaS 36 – impairment of assets

The amendments to IAS 36 issued in May 2013 require (i) disclosure of the recoverable amount of impaired assets; and (ii) 
additional disclosures about the measurement of the recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is based on fair  
value less costs of disposal, including the discount rate when a present value technique is utilized to measure the  
recoverable amount. The amendments will only impact disclosure and are effective for annual periods beginning on or  
after January 1, 2014.

iaS 39 – financial instruments: recognition and measurement

The amendments to IAS 39 issued in June 2013 clarify that novation of a hedge derivative to a clearing counterparty as  
a consequence of laws or regulations or the introduction of laws or regulations does not terminate hedge accounting.  
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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ifric 21 – levies

In May 2013, the IASB issued IFRIC 21, which was developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee. IFRIC 21 clarifies that an 
entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. 
The interpretation clarifies that no liability should be recognized before the minimum threshold which triggers the levy is 
reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

ifrS 9 – financial instruments

In November 2013, the IASB issued the third phase of IFRS 9 which details the new general hedge accounting model. Hedge 
accounting remains optional and the new model is intended to allow reporters to better reflect risk management activities in 
the financial statements and provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting. In July 2013, the IASB deferred the 
mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 and has left this date open pending the finalization of the impairment and classification 
and measurement requirements.
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Independent  
Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of WesternZagros Resources Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements ofWesternZagros Resources Ltd., which comprise  
the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
WesternZagros Resources Ltd. as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

Chartered Accountants 
Calgary, Alberta

March 12, 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
111 5th Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 5L3 
T: +1 403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825, www.pwc.com/ca 
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Management’s Responsibility  
for Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for the reliability and integrity of the consolidated financial statements, the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, and other financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report.

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financing Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the IASB. Financial statements are not precise as they include certain amounts based on estimates and 
judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are 
presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a 
basis consistent with that in the financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal 
control and for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board is assisted in exercising its responsibilities 
through the Audit Committee of the Board.

The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the auditors to satisfy itself that each is properly discharging its 
responsibilities, to review significant accounting and reporting matters and to review the consolidated financial statements. The 
Audit Committee reports its findings and recommends the approval of the consolidated financial statements to the Board.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited on behalf of the shareholders by the independent auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

M. Simon Hatfield 
Chief Executive Officer

Greg Stevenson 
Chief Financial Officer

March 12, 2014
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(thousands of United States dollars)
december 31, 

2013
 December 31, 

2012

assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (note 7) $ 140,728 $ 146,835 

Trade and other receivables (note 8) 620 459

Prepaid expenses   1,052 1,248

Deposit held in trust (note 9) 10,857 –

Income tax recoverable 116 697

Total current assets 153,373 149,239 

Non-current assets

Deposit held in trust (note 9) 9,143 –

Property, plant and equipment (note 10) 994 95

Exploration and evaluation expenditures (note 11) 407,655 275,041

Total non-current assets   417,792 275,136

total assets $ 571,165 $ 424,375 

liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (note 12) $ 56,205 $ 69,603 

Total current liabilities 56,205 69,603

Non-current liabilities

Convertible notes (note 13) 71,124 –

Derivative financial liabilities (note 14) 12,513 –

Provision for decommissioning obligations (note 15) 4,677 4,207

Deferred tax liabilities (note 16) – 206

Total non-current liabilities 88,314 4,413

total liabilities 144,519 74,016

equity

Equity attributable to shareholders

Share capital (note 17) 474,789 399,240

Contributed surplus (note 18) 17,739 14,969

Accumulated deficit (65,882) (63,850)

total equity 426,646 350,359

total equity and liabilities $ 571,165 $ 424,375 

Commitments and contingencies (note 24) 

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

   
Randall Oliphant Fred J. Dyment 
Director Director
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(thousands of United States dollars, except per share amounts) 2013 2012

other income

Interest income $  316 $ 123 

expenses

General and administrative expenses (note 18, 19) 12,678 11,003

Depreciation (note 10) 170 60

Accretion on decommissioning obligations (note 15) 129 54

Derivative liabilities gain (note 14) (15,816) –

Financing costs 7,627 –

Foreign exchange gain (2,155) (47)

Total expenses 2,633 11,070

Loss before taxation 2,317 10,947

taxation

Current (note 16) (79) (690)

Deferred (note 16) (206) 30

Total taxation (recovery) (285) (660)

total loss and comprehensive loss attributable to shareholders $  2,032 $ 10,287 

net loss and comprehensive loss per share – basic and diluted (note 21) – $ 0.03 

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(thousands of United States dollars)

number  
of shares

Share  
capital

contributed 
surplus

accumulated 
deficit

total  
equity

Balance January 1, 2012 371,209,472 $ 341,681 $ 12,683 $ (53,563) $ 300,801 

Issuance of common shares  40,714,286  57,436 – – 57,436

Share issuance costs – (29) – – (29)

Options exercised (note 18)  177,067  152 (57) – 95

Share based payments (note 18) – – 2,343 – 2,343

Loss for the year – – – (10,287) (10,287)

Balance december 31, 2012 412,100,825 399,240 14,969 (63,850) 350,359

Issuance of common shares  62,431,422  76,491 – – 76,491

Share issuance costs - (1,406) – – (1,406)

Options exercised (note 18)  566,899  464 (164) – 300

Share based payments (note 18) – – 2,934 – 2,934

Loss for the year – – – (2,032) (2,032)

Balance december 31, 2013 475,099,146 $ 474,789 $ 17,739 $ (65,882) $ 426,646

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(thousands of United States dollars) 2013 2012

cash flow from operating activities

Net (loss) before taxation $ (2,317) $ (10,947)

Adjustments for

Depreciation (note 10)  170  60 

Accretion on decommissioning liabilities (note 15)  129  54 

Finance costs (note 13)  7,627 –

Share based payments (note 18, 19)  1,926  1,374 

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (note 13) (2,459) –

Unrealized derivative liability gain (note 14) (15,816) –

Income taxes recovered  660  1,812 

Change in non-cash operating working capital (note 23) (283)  497 

Net cash used in operating activities (10,363) (7,150)

cash flow from investing activities

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation activities (note 11, 23) (124,675) (94,162)

Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 10) (1,069) (66)

Proceeds received from third party participant (note 11) – 82,856

Gross oil sales proceeds from extended well test (note 11) 247 39,632

Settlement of EWT production sharing terms, oil sales (note 11) (180) (26,434)

Short-term investments – 9,997

Disposals of exploration and evaluation assets 263 149

Proceeds received (deposited) into trust (note 9) (40,000) 20,000

Net cash from (used in) investing activities (165,414) 31,972

cash flow from financing activities

Issuance of convertible notes, net of transaction costs (note 13) 97,027 –

Interest paid, convertible notes (note 13) (2,020) –

Loan proceeds (note 13) 57,500 –

Repayment of loan and accrued interest (note 13) (58,222) –

Issuance of common shares, net of costs (note 17) 75,085 57,407

Proceeds from options exercised 300 95

Net cash from financing activities 169,670 57,502

change in cash and cash equivalents (6,107) 82,324

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 146,835 64,511

cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 140,728 $ 146,835

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(thousands of United States dollars)

1. general information

WesternZagros Resources Ltd. (the “Company” or “WesternZagros”) is headquartered in Calgary, Canada. The Company is 
incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta, Canada. The address for the Company is Suite 600, 440 – 2nd 
Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 5E9. 

WesternZagros is a publicly-traded, Calgary-based, international oil and gas company focused on acquiring properties and 
exploring for, developing and producing crude oil and natural gas in Iraq. WesternZagros holds two Production Sharing 
Contracts (“PSCs”) with the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The Kurdamir and 
Garmian PSCs each govern separate contract areas. The Garmian contract area is operated by WesternZagros. The 
Company holds a 40 percent interest in the Garmian PSC, the KRG holds a 20 percent interest and the remaining 40 
percent interest is held by Gazprom Neft Middle East B.V. (“Gazprom Neft”). The Kurdamir contract area is operated by 
Talisman (Block K44) B.V. (“Talisman”) with a 40 percent working interest, WesternZagros holds a 40 percent working 
interest and the KRG holds a 20 percent working interest.

The Company has its listing on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “WZR.V”.

Authorization of financial statements
These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2013 were approved and authorized for issuance in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on March 12, 2014.

2. BaSiS of preparation

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as 
issued by the IASB, and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that were published at the 
time of preparation and that were effective December 31, 2013. These consolidated financial statements, including the prior 
year comparative information, have been prepared in compliance with IFRS. The Company has consistently applied the 
accounting policies disclosed within these financial statements to all periods presented herein. Where necessary, prior 
period comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with presentation changes in the current year.

3. Significant accounting policieS

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described below.

A. Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, 
except for financial instruments classified as available-for-sale or classified as fair value through profit and loss. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for certain cash flow 
information. The accounting policies, as described in further detail in this note, have been consistently applied to all periods 
presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

These consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in United States dollars (“U.S.”). The 
Company has adopted the U.S. dollar as its functional and reporting currency since most of its expenses are directly or 
indirectly denominated in U.S. dollars. When revenues are realized, it is expected that U.S. dollars would be received. All 
references herein to U.S. $ or to $ are to United States dollars and references herein to Cdn$ are to Canadian dollars. These 
consolidated financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand (U.S.$000) except where otherwise indicated. 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the reporting date, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such 
estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events at the reporting date. Accordingly, actual results may ultimately differ 
from the estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. Areas that involve a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
in Note 5 “Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions”.
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B. Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries as follows:

wholly-owned subsidiary Jurisdiction nature of operations

WesternZagros Resources Inc. Canada Holding Company

Western Oil International Holdings Limited Cyprus Holding Company

WesternZagros Limited Cyprus Exploration and Development Company

WesternZagros (Garmian) Limited Cyprus Inactive

1734824 Alberta Ltd. Canada Inactive

These subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies. The 
Company has 100 percent direct ownership of these entities. Accordingly, the subsidiaries are fully consolidated within the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Inter-company transactions and balances, including unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company transactions, 
are eliminated in full in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

C. Jointly controlled assets under the PSCs

The jointly controlled assets under the PSCs offer joint ownership by the Company and its co-venturers for assets contributed to 
the ongoing project in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. As joint operations, the Company recognizes its share of the jointly 
controlled assets and its share of the joint liabilities incurred under the PSCs (refer to Note 24 “Commitments and contingencies” 
for a description of the PSCs).

D. Foreign currency translation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s functional and reporting currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the statement of financial position, any resulting exchange rate differences are recorded in 
the statement of comprehensive loss. Non-monetary items are measured at historical exchange rates.

E. Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Crude oil and natural gas exploration and evaluation expenditures (“E&E expenditures”) are accounted for using a modified 
‘successful efforts’ method of accounting. Accordingly, the Company accounts for its share of costs relating to the acquisition 
of, exploration for, and evaluation of crude oil and natural gas assets, including related provisions for decommissioning 
liabilities, as E&E expenditures. E&E expenditures include, but are not limited to, license and land acquisition costs; 
topographical, geological, geochemical, and geophysical costs or studies; drilling and testing of exploratory and non-
productive wells; costs related to evaluating the technical feasibility or commercial viability of extracting mineral reserves; 
carrying costs directly related to unproved properties; major development projects; and administrative costs directly related to 
exploration and evaluation activities. Any insurance recoveries received in relation to an insurable event pertaining to E&E 
activities are credited to E&E expenditures. Costs incurred prior to obtaining the rights to explore are expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive loss.

The costs will continue to be carried as E&E expenditures until such time that the technical feasibility and commercial viability 
of the crude oil and natural gas hydrocarbons has been demonstrated. Determining the classification of E&E expenditures 
versus development expenditures requires significant judgement. Whether the technical feasibility and commercial viability 
has been demonstrated is assessed on an ongoing basis by the Company. At each reporting date, WesternZagros assesses a 
combination of relevant factors which includes, but is not limited to, a declaration of commerciality, uninterrupted and regular 
sales of production, approval of a development plan and the recognition of reserves by a qualified independent reserves 
evaluator. The Company submitted a Declaration of Commerciality (“DoC”) with regards to the Sarqala discovery on the 
Garmian Block to the KRG on December 23, 2013. The Company and its co-venturers are progressing with a development plan 
for the Sarqala discovery for submission to the KRG, outlining how the field will be developed. As at the reporting date the 
Company does not yet believe that is has demonstrated the commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties 
based upon the requirement to complete a development plan prior to beginning production. 

Once the Company believes it has demonstrated commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties, the applicable 
E&E expenditures are then assessed for impairment and transferred to development expenditures. Prior thereto, any 
production is considered to be test production and any associated proceeds received during the E&E phase, net of applicable 
costs, are credited to E&E expenditures when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed and the value of 

44 / WesternZagros 2013 Annual Report



those sales can be reliably measured. The accounting treatment related to hydrocarbon sales during the E&E phase requires 
significant judgement. For historical sales of test production into the Kurdistan domestic market, proceeds were received in 
advance from the buyers for which the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to E&E expenditures upon delivery 
of the associated test production. For any sales of test production delivered for export, the Company’s net entitlement is 
recognized as a credit to E&E expenditures upon the receipt of any associated proceeds, as the payment mechanism is still 
developing for crude oil exported from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq and consequently the value of crude oil delivered for 
export cannot be reliably measured at the time of delivery. As at the date of these financial statements the Company is an 
exploration stage company and has not yet incurred any development expenditures.

Accumulated E&E expenditures are assessed for impairment if: a) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and 
commercial viability; and b) facts or circumstances suggest the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Indicators  
of impairment are considered at least annually or whenever facts and circumstances indicate potential impairment. For the 
purposes of impairment testing, E&E expenditures are allocated on a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) basis. The Company has 
established that each PSC entered into be identified as a separate CGU. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by 
which the E&E expenditure’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the E&E 
expenditure’s fair value less costs of disposal and their value in use. Impairment losses are recognized immediately in the 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). If facts and circumstances subsequently indicate that a reversal of a previous 
impairment loss is warranted, the carrying value is increased up to the recoverable amount, with the reversal limited to the 
original loss amount. As at the reporting date no impairment has been recognized. No depreciation or amortization is charged 
against exploration and evaluation expenditures.

F. Borrowing Costs

While WesternZagros is in the exploration phase of operations, the Company is required to expense borrowing costs incurred 
as financing costs within the consolidated financial statements. The Company will continue to recognize financing costs 
within the statement of comprehensive income (loss) until development activities begin, at which point the Company can 
begin capitalizing associated borrowing costs directly related to the development of crude oil and natural gas reserves for 
qualifying assets.

G. Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less depreciation, and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives based on the following annual rates:

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 25%

Computer hardware and software 33%

Leasehold improvements over the associated lease term

Whenever events or circumstances dictate, the Company compares the carrying value of property, plant and equipment to the 
higher of its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal, based on estimated discounted future cash flows, to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.

H. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in the bank, less outstanding cheques, and short-term highly liquid deposits with 
maturity dates of three months or less.

Short-term investments are highly liquid deposits with maturity dates between three and six months.

I. Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are de-recognized when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial assets expire or when the contractual rights to those assets are transferred. Financial liabilities  
are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expired.

Upon initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories based on the 
purpose for which the instruments were acquired:

financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – this category is comprised of derivatives, or assets 
acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, except for those derivatives 
designated as hedges. They are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized 
in the comprehensive statement of income (loss) for the period. The Company has classified derivative financial liabilities, 
including embedded derivatives, in this category.
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available-for-sale financial assets – this category is comprised of non-derivative investments designated as available for sale 
and can include marketable securities and investments in debt and equity securities. Available-for-sale investments are 
recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income. Available-for-sale investments are classified as non-
current, unless the investments mature within twelve months, or management expects to dispose of them within twelve 
months. The Company has not classified any instruments in this category.

loans and receivables and other financial liabilities – this category is comprised of non-derivative financial assets or liabilities 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables and other financial 
liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and are classified as current or non-current based on their respective 
maturity dates.

The Company’s loans and receivables are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other 
receivables and deposit held in trust. The Company’s other financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest 
payable and loan payable and convertible notes. 

Due to their short-term nature, the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other receivables, 
trade and other payables and interest payable approximate their carrying amounts. 

J. Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants in the principal or most advantageous market at the reporting date. To estimate the fair value of its 
financial instruments, the Company utilizes quoted market prices when available or third-party models and valuation 
methodologies that use observable market data.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other receivables, deposit held in trust, trade and 
other payables and interest payable have fair values which approximate their carrying values due to the short term nature of 
these items.

WesternZagros categorizes its financial instruments carried at fair value into one of three levels, depending on the significance 
of inputs employed in the measurement:

•	 level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active 
markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis;

•	 level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1. Prices in Level 2 are either 
directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 valuations are based on valuation models and 
techniques where the significant inputs are derived from quoted indices, which includes the Company’s derivative 
financial liabilities as at the reporting date and none as at December 31, 2012; and

•	 level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data. The convertible notes are valued using a cash flow model which results in this item being classified as a Level 3 
instrument as at the reporting date, the carrying value of which approximates fair value. The Company had no Level 3 
assets or liabilities as at December 31, 2012.

K. Impairment of financial instruments

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If such 
evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows:

financial assets carried at amortized cost – the impairment loss is the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or 
receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an 
allowance account.

available for sale financial assets – the impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of the asset and its fair 
value at the measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized in the statement of loss. This amount 
represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive income that is reclassified to net income.

Impairment losses on financial instruments carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized. 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed.
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L. Provision for decommissioning obligations

Provision for decommissioning obligations is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as  
a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provision is made for the present value of the future cost of 
abandonment of oil and gas wells and related facilities. The Company recognizes the initial spud date as the obligating event 
for each well location. The Company currently has no other facilities or infrastructure relating to petroleum operations that 
would require future abandonment activities. When the provision is first recognized a corresponding amount equivalent to  
the provision is also currently recognized as part of the cost of E&E expenditures. 

The amount recognized is the estimated cost of decommissioning activities based on internal engineering estimates prevailing 
at the reporting date, discounted to its present value utilizing a pre-tax risk-free interest rate. Changes in the estimated timing 
of decommissioning or decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the 
provision, with a corresponding adjustment to E&E expenditures, and are updated at each reporting date to reflect the current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 

The liability is increased each period due to the passage of time and the associated accretion is expensed to income  
in the period. 

M. Taxation including deferred taxation 

Tax expense represents current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income  
or loss except to the extent that it relates to items directly in equity, in which case the related income tax impact is 
recognized in equity.

Current tax is based on the taxable profits for the period using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted and any adjustment 
to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on a non-discounted basis, using the liability method, based on the 
differences between the carrying values in the consolidated financial statements and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered. Deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred taxes are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Tax assets and liabilities are recognized on an entity by entity basis as the Company does not have the legal right to offset 
recognized amounts between entities.

N. Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized as  
a deduction from equity in the period in which the equity is issued and prior thereto are treated as deferred costs.

O. Share-based payments

The Company has established a Stock Option Plan for the issuance of options to directors, officers, employees and consultants 
to purchase Common Shares of the Company. The vesting period and expiry date for each option grant is set at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors. Each vesting tranche is considered a separate award with its own vesting period. The fair value of 
each tranche is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation costs are recognized 
over the vesting period for each particular tranche based on the number of awards expected to vest, with a corresponding 
increase to contributed surplus. Compensation costs directly related to exploration activities are capitalized, costs related to 
non-operational activities are treated as general and administrative expenses. The number of option awards expected to vest  
is reviewed at each reporting date, with any impact being recognized immediately.

The cash proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, together with the amount recorded to 
contributed surplus are credited to share capital when the options are exercised.

P. Other income

The Company recognizes other income on an accrual basis and is related to the interest income earned on the Company’s  
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment balances.

Q. Loss per share

The Company presents the basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss 
attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted income per share is determined by adjusting the income attributable to the common shareholders and the 
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average number of common shares outstanding for the period for the effects of all potential dilutive common shares. Note that 
by definition, for periods in which there is a loss attributable to the common shareholders, there can be no dilutive impact on 
the loss per share calculation. 

R. Recent accounting pronouncements 

WesternZagros has adopted the following applicable IFRS standards, interpretations and amendments which became effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, the adoption of which had no material impact to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements:

iaS 19 – employee Benefits

IAS 19 has been amended to revise the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements for defined benefit plans. 

ifrS 10 – consolidated financial Statements

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Under previous IFRS, consolidation was required when an entity had the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaced IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” and SIC-12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities”. 

ifrS 11 – Joint arrangements

IFRS 11 established principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement, and requires entities to classify interests 
in joint arrangements as either a joint venture or a joint operation. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting whereas for joint operations the entity recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the 
joint operation. IFRS 11 replaced IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC-13 “Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Venturers”. 

ifrS 12 – disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 12 established disclosure requirements relating to an entity’s interests in other entities such as joint arrangements, 
associates or unconsolidated structured entities, including special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The 
standard carried forward previous disclosure requirements and also introduced significant additional disclosure requirements 
that address the nature and risk associated with interests in other entities. 

ifrS 13 – fair value measurements

IFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a single comprehensive IFRS framework for measuring fair value and the required 
disclosures about fair value measurements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, at the measurement date. IFRS 13 was intended to eliminate the inconsistencies in fair value measurement and the 
disclosure requirements contained in various other IFRS standards that refer to fair value. 

A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards as issued by the IASB are not yet effective 
for the period ending December 31, 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. The 
following applicable mandatory standards, interpretations and amendments as issued by the IASB become effective on or 
after January 1, 2014, none of which are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements:

iaS 32 – financial instruments: presentation

The amendments to IAS 32 issued in December 2011 clarify the meaning of the offsetting criterion and the principle behind net 
settlement, including identifying when some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. The 
amendments will only affect disclosure and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 

iaS 36 – impairment of assets

The amendments to IAS 36 issued in May 2013 require (i) disclosure of the recoverable amount of impaired assets; and (ii) 
additional disclosures about the measurement of the recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is based on fair value 
less costs of disposal, including the discount rate when a present value technique is utilized to measure the recoverable amount. 
The amendments will only impact disclosure and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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iaS 39 – financial instruments: recognition and measurement

The amendments to IAS 39 issued in June 2013 clarify that novation of a hedge derivative to a clearing counterparty as a 
consequence of laws or regulations or the introduction of laws or regulations does not terminate hedge accounting. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

ifric 21 – levies

In May 2013, the IASB issued IFRIC 21, which was developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee. IFRIC 21 clarifies that an 
entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. 
The interpretation clarifies that no liability should be recognized before the minimum threshold which triggers the levy is 
reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

ifrS 9 - financial instruments

In November 2013, the IASB issued the third phase of IFRS 9 which details the new general hedge accounting model. Hedge 
accounting remains optional and the new model is intended to allow reporters to better reflect risk management activities in 
the financial statements and provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting. In July 2013, the IASB deferred the 
mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 and has left this date open pending the finalization of the impairment and classification 
and measurement requirements.

4. financial riSk management

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, 
loan payable, convertible notes and derivative financial liabilities. The main risks that could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity and funding risk, and market and interest rate risk.

Risk management is carried out by senior management, and is reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors. The Company’s risk 
management program concentrates mainly on securing the necessary financial resources required to minimize the potential risk 
that the Company is not able to meet its ongoing obligations and commitments. The risk management policies employed by the 
Company are discussed below:

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The Company is 
currently exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents to the extent these balances are invested with various 
institutions. The Board of Directors of the Company has approved an Investment Policy to dictate the various types of 
instruments and institutions that can be invested in and monitors these against this policy on a regular basis. Currently, the 
Company has entered into transactions for cash equivalents with major Canadian financial institutions with investment grade 
credit ratings.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk for any amounts owing by Gazprom Neft for its share of costs related to the activities 
carried out while WesternZagros continues as operator of the Garmian Block. The ability of the Company to successfully carry 
out the exploration, appraisal and development of its PSC contract areas may be impacted by the ongoing receipt of Gazprom 
Neft’s share of costs incurred in relation to the Garmian PSC activities. 

With respect to the Company’s financial assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk due to default of a counter party is equal to 
the carrying value of these instruments. The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date is as follows:

as at december 31 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $ 140,728 $ 146,835 

Trade and other receivables 620 459

Total $ 141,348 $ 147,294 

There are no past due or impaired amounts as at the reporting date. Accordingly, the Company does not expect any losses 
from non-performance by these counterparties, and has not recorded a provision against any of these amounts as it does 
not consider the balances to be impaired.

There is no credit risk associated with the current portion of the deposit held in trust. The Company has the ability to recoup 
the deposit amount that exceeds the remaining maximum obligation as defined by a specified formula within the terms of 
the contract, limited to the remaining minimum obligation.

There was no credit risk associated with sales of test oil into the Kurdistan Region domestic market during the Sarqala-1 
extended well test (“EWT”) which occurred from October 2011 to May 2012, or for sales of oil inventory during May 2013,  
as each of the purchase and sales contracts were prepaid in advance by the buyers.
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However, there is credit risk associated with any test oil delivered for export. Under the auspices of the KRG, the Company 
recommenced the Sarqala-1 EWT on November 8, 2012. Deliveries continued until November 27, 2012 when the KRG 
requested that production be halted, with approximately 88,000 (gross) barrels of crude oil delivered for export during that 
period. The Company expects its net entitlement for any oil exports to be based upon the terms of the Garmian PSC, 
however the Company has not yet been paid for the exported oil. There is uncertainty relating to the amount and the timing 
for receipt of any associated proceeds and, accordingly, the Company has not recorded any receivable for the value of 
exported volumes as at the reporting date.

Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity and funding risk is the risk that the Company may be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalent  
in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments as they become due. The Company funds its share of 
commitments from existing cash balances and short-term investments, future net proceeds from any sales of oil and gas 
production, if any, and if required, by accessing additional sources of funding from debt or equity markets. Significant liquidity 
and funding events during 2012 and 2013 included the following:

•	 Under	the	auspices	of	the	KRG,	the	Company	continued	the	Sarqala-1	EWT,	which	had	first	begun	during	2011	and	for	
which the Company received $12.9 million in gross proceeds during the three month period ended December 2011, and 
received a further $39.6 million in gross proceeds from the sales of test production into the Kurdistan Region domestic 
market for the five month period ended May 31, 2012. As a combined total, WesternZagros received gross cash proceeds 
of $52.5 million from sales of test oil during the period October 2011 to May 2012;

•	 During	the	third	quarter	of	2012,	the	Company	collected	a	net	total	of	$56.5	million	in	proceeds	following	the	KRG	
assignment of the Third Party Participant Interest (“TPPI”) in the Garmian PSC to Gazprom Neft, which was comprised  
of the following:

i. Cash proceeds of $82.9 million were received from Gazprom Neft due to the recovery of Gazprom Neft’s share of back 
costs pertaining to Garmian Block activities for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012, net of Gazprom Neft’s share 
of Recovery Oil from the historic sales of test production from the Sarqala-1 EWT; and

ii. WesternZagros also paid the KRG $26.4 million upon the retroactive application of the terms of the Garmian PSC in 
regards to the deemed gross sales received from the Sarqala-1 EWT during the period October 2011 to May 2012;

•	 During	the	third	quarter	of	2012,	the	Company	completed	a	non-brokered	private	placement	of	common	shares	with	
Crest Energy International LLC (“Crest”) for total gross proceeds of $57.4 million; 

•	 During	the	first	quarter	of	2013,	the	Company	received	a	total	of	$119.9	million	in	proceeds	from	Crest	after	securing	a	
loan of $57.5 million and also completing a non-brokered, private placement of 51 million common shares of the Company 
at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of $62.4 million;

•	 During	the	second	quarter	of	2013,	the	Company	completed	a	further	marketed	private	placement	of	11,431,422	common	
shares of the Company at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of $14.1 million. The net proceeds 
from the private placement were used to repay a portion of the loan from Crest; and

•	 During	the	second	quarter	of	2013,	the	Company	issued	Cdn$100	million	aggregate	principal	amount	of	convertible	
senior unsecured notes. The convertible notes have a face value of Cdn$1,000 per note, a coupon rate of 4 percent per 
annum, a maturity date of December 31, 2015, and are convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of 
the holders at a conversion price of Cdn$1.45 per share. A portion of the net proceeds was used to repay the remaining 
outstanding amount of the loan from Crest, including applicable accrued interest.

With available working capital as at the reporting date, the Company anticipates it is funded for currently planned activities over 
the next twelve months. As development activities progress, however, the Company may require additional funding over time for 
future development activities as well as for administration expenses and interest payments. In general, the Company’s ability to 
continue its operations and appraisal and development activities is dependent upon its ability to sell oil and gas from any of 
its discoveries that are ultimately developed, or to obtain additional funding over time as required. Any additional funding 
that may be required above and beyond the Company’s net entitlement to any future sales proceeds received, if any, is 
dependent upon the level and timing of activities pursued by the Company and the funding requirements of the Company 
under the relevant PSCs. 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had Cdn$100 million aggregate principal amount of convertible notes outstanding. 
The Company is required to pay interest in arrears on a semi-annual basis at June 30 and December 31. The first interest 
payment was completed by December 31, 2013. The Company will also be required to repay the convertible notes by December 
31, 2015, where the holders of the notes have not exercised the conversion option.

At December 31, 2013, financial liabilities included trade and other payables and convertible notes. The Company also has certain 
commitments related to the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs as well as various other commitments (refer to Note 24 “Commitments 
and contingencies” for a further description of the Company’s commitments). As at the reporting date, the estimated timing of 
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cash outflows relating to trade and other payables and the cash outflows related to the convertible notes, whereby the holders  
of the notes have not exercised the convertible option (i.e. based on the exchange as at the reporting date), is summarized as 
follows (U.S. $000s): 

as at december 31, 2013
Less than 

 six months
Six months 

 to 1 year 2–5 years Total

Trade and other payables $ 56,205  –  – $ 56,205

Interest on convertible notes 1,900 $ 1,900 $ 3,800 7,600

Repayment of convertible notes – –  94,020 94,020

Total expected cash outflow $ 58,105 $ 1,900 $ 97,820 $ 157,825

as at december 31, 2012

Trade and other payables $ 69,603  –  – $ 69,603

Total expected cash outflow $ 69,603 – – $ 69,603

The Company’s capital structure consists of shareholder’s equity, working capital and debt, as follows: 

as at december 31 2013 2012

Shareholders’ equity $ 426,646 $ 350,359 

Face value of convertible notes(1) 94,020 –

Working capital (97,168) (79,636)

Total capital $ 423,498 $ 270,723 

(1) The face value of convertible notes is based on the Cdn$100 million aggregate principal amount at the USD noon exchange rate as at the reporting date.

The Company will adjust its capital structure to manage its programs through the issuance of shares, the issuance and/or 
repayment of debt and adjustments to capital spending. The Company’s objectives when managing its capital structure are 
as follows:

i. Ensure adequate levels of available cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments to meet the Company’s 
commitments under the Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs (also refer to Note 24 “Commitments and contingencies”); and

ii. To prudently fund expenditures related to the acquisition of properties, and for exploration, appraisal and development 
of crude oil and natural gas properties.

The Board of Directors regularly reviews the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and the timing 
of any required debt repayments against the Company’s expenditure commitments and estimates the need and timing for 
additional equity or debt financing. This review includes estimating the potential net proceeds to be derived from crude oil 
sales, if any. 

Market and interest rate risk
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates 
and equity or commodity prices received from both the export market or from the local Kurdistan Region domestic market. 
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that changes in market interest rates will impact interest earned 
on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents.

The Company is also exposed to foreign exchange risk to the extent that the convertible notes are denominated in Canadian 
dollars while the majority of available funds are held in U.S. dollars. The Company is also exposed to foreign exchange risk 
to the extent that the majority of costs are anticipated to be incurred in U.S. dollars while the funds it will have available may 
be in other currencies. 

The Company’s Investment Policy dictates the various types of instruments and institutions that can be invested in and 
monitors these against this policy on a regular basis. The Board of Directors has also approved a Foreign Exchange Policy 
to dictate the currencies held by the Company and the instruments that can be utilized by the Company to meet its day to 
day requirements. This Foreign Exchange Policy requires the Company to hold the majority of its cash and cash equivalents 
and short term investments in U.S. dollars and sets out the type and duration of instruments that can be used to meet the 
Company’s day to day foreign exchange requirements. The Foreign Exchange Policy does allow the Company to hold other 
balances, mainly Canadian dollars, to meet its funding needs for general and administrative, interest payments and other 
spending requirements in these currencies. Neither aforementioned policy permits the Company to enter into any economic 
hedging as it relates to interest or foreign exchange risks. 
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As at December 31, 2013, had the U.S. dollar changed by one percent against the Canadian dollar, with all other variables 
held constant, the Company’s foreign exchange gain (loss) would have been affected by approximately $0.9 million (2012: 
$0.1 million).

In general, both crude oil and natural gas prices are subject to wide fluctuation. During the year ended December 31, 2013, 
Brent daily spot crude prices ranged in value from $96 to $118 per barrel. WesternZagros originally negotiated the PSC 
economic terms in 2007 in a crude oil price environment of approximately $50 per barrel. Any significant and sustained 
decline in crude oil prices that may be received which are below that price that are subject to the terms of the PSCs may 
impact the feasibility of WesternZagros’s business plan.

For any sales of production into the Kurdistan Region domestic market the Company is subject to both market conditions 
and commodity price fluctuations. Local sales prices are lower than the prevailing international prices. Any change in the 
sustainability, longevity and continuation of the local domestic market in the Kurdistan Region or fluctuation in the prices 
received could have a considerable impact on any future cash proceeds received by WesternZagros.

For any production delivered for export from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq, the marketability and price of any exports is, and 
will continue to be, affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control including the impact that the various levels 
of government may have on the ultimate price received for crude oil and natural gas sales. In addition, the timing of 
payments received by the Company for any exports would be uncertain as the payment mechanism for export sales from 
the Kurdistan Region of Iraq is still developing. The Company’s ability to market its crude oil and natural gas may depend on 
its ability to secure transportation. The Company may also be affected by deliverability uncertainties related to the 
proximity of its potential production to pipelines and processing facilities and operational problems affecting such pipelines 
and facilities as well as potential government regulation relating to price, the export of crude oil and natural gas and other 
aspects of the crude oil and natural gas business. To date, the Company has not been paid its net entitlement for the 
approximate 88,000 bbls (gross) of oil delivered for export from the Kurdistan Region during November 2012.

5. critical accounting JudgementS, eStimateS and aSSumptionS

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities as at the reporting date, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Such estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events as at the reporting date. Accordingly, actual results may 
ultimately differ from the estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. Areas that involve a higher degree of 
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements 
are disclosed below.

A. Recoverability of asset carrying values

At each reporting date, the Company assesses its exploration and evaluation and property, plant and equipment expenditures  
for possible impairment if events or circumstances indicate the carrying values of the assets might not be recoverable. Relevant 
indicators include the following: the continued progression of Management’s operational plans; new information obtained from 
wells that have been drilled or tested; changes or restrictions in access to drilling sites; changes in legal, regulatory, market, 
environmental, technological, or political factors that could impact ongoing operations; the ability of the Company to continue 
fulfilling ongoing commitments; and significant changes in the Company’s market value.

If factors indicate that the Company may need to recognize impairment, the carrying value of the assets for each cash-
generating-unit is compared to the greater of value-in-use or fair-value less costs of disposal. The determination of the value- 
in-use amount, which is based on discounted future cash flows, and any resulting impairment involves the use of significant 
estimates and assumptions about future events and factors such as future commodity prices, the impact of inflation on operating 
expenses, discount rates, production profiles, the ability to produce and export crude oil and natural gas, the future capital costs 
needed to develop reserves, as well as the future marketability and availability of transportation for crude oil and natural gas that 
is produced.

As at the reporting date, the Company has not recognized any impairment for E&E expenditures nor for property, plant,  
and equipment. 

B. Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Applicable exploration costs incurred continue to be carried as E&E expenditures until such time that the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of the crude oil and natural gas hydrocarbons has been demonstrated. At each reporting date, the Company 
assesses whether the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated in order to determine if the E&E 
expenditures should then be assessed for impairment and transferred to development expenditures. 
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Determining the classification of E&E expenditures versus development expenditures requires significant judgement. Whether the 
technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated is assessed on an ongoing basis by the Company. At each 
reporting date, WesternZagros assesses a combination of relevant factors which includes, but is not limited to, a declaration of 
commerciality, uninterrupted and regular sales of production, approval of a development plan and the recognition of reserves by  
a qualified independent reserves evaluator. The Company submitted a DoC with regards to the Sarqala discovery on the Garmian 
Block to the KRG on December 23, 2013. The Company and its co-venturers are progressing with a development plan for the 
Sarqala discovery for submission to the KRG, outlining how the field will be developed. As at the reporting date the Company  
does not yet believe that is has demonstrated the commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties based upon the 
requirement to complete a development plan prior to beginning production.

Prior to the conclusion of the E&E phase, any production is considered to be test production and any associated proceeds received, 
net of applicable costs, are credited to E&E expenditures when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed and the 
value of those sales can be reliably measured. For sales of test production into the Kurdistan domestic market, for which proceeds 
have been received in advance from the buyers, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to E&E expenditures upon 
delivery of the associated test production. In regards to test production delivered for export from the Kurdistan Region, for which 
the payment mechanism is still developing, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to E&E expenditures upon the 
receipt of any associated proceeds. 

C. Provision for decommissioning obligations

The Company recognizes both an asset and a provision for decommissioning obligations in the period in which they are incurred by 
estimating the fair value of the obligation. The Company has chosen to base the fair value calculations on a risk-free discount rate, 
rather than a credit-adjusted risk-free rate, which is a critical accounting judgement under IFRS. Provisions for environmental 
clean-up and remediation costs associated with the Company’s drilling operations are based on current legal and constructive 
requirements, technology, price levels and expected plans for remediation. Actual costs and cash outflows and the timing of those 
cash outflows can differ from estimates because of changes in laws and regulations, public expectations, prices, discovery and 
analysis of site conditions, future performance of wells drilled, and changes in clean-up technology. Estimating the timing and 
amount of cash outflows required to settle these obligations are inherently difficult and are based on Management’s current 
experience. Any differences between actual and estimated decommissioning obligations would impact both the asset and the 
provision, which would then impact future depreciation of the asset as well as accretion on the provision.

D. Income tax

Tax regulations and legislation and the interpretations thereof in the jurisdictions that the Company operates are subject to 
change. As such, income taxes are subject to measurement uncertainty. Deferred income tax assets are assessed by 
Management based on all available information at the end of the reporting period to determine the likelihood that they will be 
realized from future taxable earnings. 

E. Share-based payments

The estimates, assumptions, and judgements made in relation to the fair value of share-based payments and the associated 
expense recognition is subject to measurement uncertainty. The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a Black 
Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, 
expected volatility, expected life of the instrument, expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate.

F. Derivative financial liabilities

The estimates, assumptions, and judgements made in relation to the fair value of embedded derivative liabilities and the 
associated impact on the initial carrying value of convertible notes and subsequent accretion is subject to measurement 
uncertainty. The fair value of embedded derivative liabilities was measured using a model specific to the valuation of 
convertible notes that utilized a partial differential equation method. Measurement inputs include market price on 
measurement date, exercise price applicable to the conversion feature of the convertible notes, expected volatility of the 
Company’s share price, expected life of the instrument, expected dividends, the risk-free interest rate, the Company’s credit 
rating and the effect of dilution.

6. Segment reporting

For the purposes of segment reporting, the Company is in the exploration phase and has one significant asset related to its 
interest in the PSCs with the KRG in respect of its project in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. Accordingly, the Company has 
identified one segment for operational activities carried out in the country of Iraq. Refer to Note 24 “Commitments and 
contingencies” for a description of the PSCs.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements / 53



7. caSh and caSh eQuivalentS 

as at december 31 2013 2012

Bank balances $ 8,402 $ 44,688 

Term deposits  132,326  102,147 

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 140,728 $ 146,835 

8. trade and other receivaBleS

current as at december 31 2013 2012

Other receivables $ 620 $ 459 

Total trade and other receivables $ 620 $ 459

Trade and other receivables include travel and operational cash advances and a GST receivable. All classes within trade  
and other receivables do not contain any impaired assets.

9. depoSit held in truSt

Under the terms of a two-year drilling contact executed in January 2013 for the use of two drilling rigs, a total amount of 
$40 million was deposited into trust in relation to a security deposit required. The Company’s 50 percent portion of the 
amount deposited in trust was $20 million, while Gazprom Neft also funded their 50 percent portion of the total amount 
deposited in trust. Gazprom Neft originally advanced their $20 million portion of the total amount deposited in trust to 
WesternZagros in late 2012. In early 2013, Trade and other payables was then reduced by $20 million once WesternZagros 
deposited the total $40 million into trust.

In the future, WesternZagros may recoup a portion of the deposit held in trust when the deposit balance exceeds the 
calculated remaining maximum obligation as determined by a formula specified by the terms of the contract. As at the 
reporting date, the Company expects the minimum remaining obligation per the terms of the contract to be less that the 
deposited amount during the next 12 months. Accordingly, the Company’s portion of the reimbursable amount to be 
recovered within the next 12 months has been classified as a current asset.

10. property, plant and eQuipment

As at the reporting date, property, plant and equipment is comprised of leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures as 
well as office and computer equipment. As the Company is still in the exploration stage, all oil and gas assets, including 
assets related to provisions for decommissioning obligations, are classified within exploration and evaluation assets.

as at december 31 2013 2012

Costs $ 2,995 $ 1,926

Accumulated depreciation (2,001) (1,831)

Net book value $ 994 $ 95

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Opening net book value $ 95 $ 89

Additions  1,069 66

Depreciation (170) (60)

Closing net book value $ 994 $ 95
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11. exploration and evaluation expenditureS

as at december 31 2013 2012

Costs $ 407,655 $ 275,041 

Net book value $ 407,655 $ 275,041 

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Opening net book value $ 275,041 $ 261,608

Additions 132,944 109,636

Proceeds received upon assignment of TPPI – (82,856)

Gross proceeds received from EWT (247) (39,632)

Settlement of EWT production sharing terms 180 26,434

Disposals (263) (149)

Closing net book value $ 407,655 $ 275,041

All E&E expenditures pertain to the Kurdistan Region exploration project with respect to the Company’s PSCs and have been 
capitalized in accordance with the Company’s exploration and evaluation accounting policy. Included in E&E expenditures as 
at December 31, 2013 is $4.2 million related to provisions for decommissioning obligations (December 31, 2012: $3.8 million). 
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company has capitalized $4.6 million of general and administrative costs (2012: 
$4.2 million), including $1.0 million of share-based compensation costs (2012: $1.0 million) directly related to exploration 
activities. All E&E expenditures are excluded from depreciation. 

During the third quarter of 2012, the KRG assigned the TPPI in the Garmian PSC to Gazprom Neft through an amendment to 
the Garmian PSC. Under the terms of the Garmian PSC (as amended), the Company received an initial payment of $82.9 
million from Gazprom Neft, comprised of $94.1 million for the Gazprom Neft’s share of back-costs in regards to gross costs 
incurred on the Garmian Block for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012 (i.e. including funding half of the KRG’s interest) 
less $11.2 million for Gazprom Neft’s share of Recovery Oil from the historic sales of test oil from the Sarqala-1 EWT. The funds 
received from Gazprom Neft were credited against E&E expenditures, WesternZagros and Gazprom Neft then each began 
funding 50 percent of all subsequent joint operations costs incurred related to the Garmian PSC. 

The Garmian PSC also provided for the production sharing terms of the PSC to be retroactively applied to the sales of test oil 
from the extended well test at Sarqala-1, being production from October 2011 to May 2012. During the third quarter of 2012, 
$26.4 million was remitted to the KRG, comprised of the KRG’s net entitlement of deemed gross sales of $25.9 million, plus 
$3.2 million for the Gazprom Neft’s share of Contractor Profit Oil (net settled between the KRG and Gazprom Neft upon 
assignment of the TPPI), less $2.7 million of deemed sales previously received by the KRG. The $26.4 million settlement with 
the KRG was debited against exploration and evaluation expenditures. The overall impact to WesternZagros was a net receipt 
of $56.5 million of proceeds upon the assignment of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft, credited against E&E expenditures. 

The Sarqala-1 EWT originally commenced during the fourth quarter of 2011 and resulted in the Company’s sales of test oil into 
the local Kurdistan Region domestic market from October 2011 to May 2012, under the auspices of the KRG. For the year 
ended December 31, 2012, the Company executed five sales contracts and received gross payments totaling $39.6 million 
(three months ended December 31, 2011: $12.9 million). For the period October 2011 to May 2012, the Company collected a 
total of $52.5 million in gross proceeds from the sale of test oil. Upon retroactive application of the production sharing terms 
during the third quarter of 2012, the Company retained total net proceeds of $14.9 million from inception-to-date sales of test 
oil, as summarized below:

pSc terms westernZagros gazprom neft krg total ewt proceeds(*)

Royalty Oil NA NA $5.5 million $5.5 million

Recovery Oil $11.2 million $11.2 million NA $22.4 million

Initial Profit Oil NA NA $17.8 million $17.8 million

Contractor Profit Oil $3.7 million $3.2 million $2.6 million $9.5 million

total $14.9 million $14.4 million $25.9 million $55.2 million

(*) Includes deemed $2.7 million of take-in-kind value attributed to the KRG.
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Upon direction from the KRG, the Company temporarily delivered crude oil for export between November 8 and November 
27, 2012. However the Sarqala-1 EWT was again halted on November 27, 2012, per further direction from the KRG. The 
Company expects its net entitlement from these exports to be based on the terms of the Garmian PSC, however the Company 
has not been paid for the approximate 88,000 bbls (gross) of test oil delivered for export. There is uncertainty as to the 
amount and the timing of proceeds due for the test oil that was exported. Accordingly, as at the reporting date the Company 
has not recorded any receivable for the value of the Company’s net entitlement and consequently no associated credit to E&E 
expenditures. The Sarqala-1 EWT is currently halted and there were no deliveries of test oil for export during the year ended 
December 31, 2013.  

Although the Sarqala-1 EWT remained halted, under the auspices of the KRG the Company sold approximately 3,800 bbls of 
oil inventory from tankage into the Kurdistan Region local domestic market during May 2013. The Company received $0.25 
million of gross proceeds ($0.07 million of net proceeds) in advance from the buyer and settled the KRG’s and Gazprom Neft’s 
net entitlements in accordance with the production sharing terms of the Garmian PSC. 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately $185 million related to the Garmian PSC and $195 million related to 
the Kurdamir PSC, both net to WesternZagros, of recoverable costs available that may ultimately be recovered from future 
crude oil or natural gas sales in accordance with the PSCs. Under each PSC, costs subject to recovery include all costs and 
expenditures incurred for exploration, development, production and decommissioning operations, as well as any other costs 
and expenditures incurred directly or indirectly from these activities. Pursuant to the terms of the PSCs, these estimated cost 
pools are subject to government audit.

12. trade and other payaBleS

current as at december 31 2013 2012

Trade, joint venture and other payables $ 23,833 $ 40,252 

Accruals  32,372  29,351 

Total trade and other payables $ 56,205 $ 69,603

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the trade, joint venture and other payables includes cash call prepayments received 
from Gazprom Neft in relation to anticipated future expenditures for Garmian Block activities. Trade and other payables are 
non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms. Accruals relate mainly to E&E expenditures and other 
corporate expenditures incurred as at the reporting date.

13. long term deBt

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Loan payable:

Balance, beginning of year – –

Debt incurred $ 57,500 –

Interest incurred 722 –

Repayment of debt, including interest (58,222) –

Balance, end of year $ 0 –

4% Convertible notes (Cdn$100 million face value):

Balance, beginning of year – –

Issuance of convertible notes, debt component $ 68,698 –

Accretion 4,847 –

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (2,421) –

Balance, end of year $ 71,124 –

 
The loan payable was initially incurred when the Company secured a loan from Crest of $57.5 million during the first quarter  
of 2013 which was secured by 10 percent of the issued share capital of WesternZagros Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Company that is the contracting party to the Company’s PSCs. The loan accrued interest at a fixed rate of 6 percent per 
annum, compounded monthly. The loan and accrued interest was repayable by September 30, 2014, subject to certain 
prepayment conditions. The loan and accrued interest was then fully repaid during the second quarter of 2013.
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In regards to the convertible notes, the Company issued Cdn$100 million aggregate principal amount of convertible notes 
during the second quarter of 2013 with a coupon rate of 4 percent per annum. The notes mature on December 31, 2015 and 
interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31, with the first interest payment completed by 
December 31, 2013. The notes are convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the holders at a conversion 
price of Cdn$1.45 per common share (68,965,517 shares), subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. The notes are not 
redeemable by the Company prior to expiry except upon a change of control of WesternZagros where the holders have not 
exercised the conversion right. The Company has included transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the 
convertible notes within the carrying value of the liability. Interest and transaction costs are recognized by accreting the 
liability component to face value over the term of the convertible notes. Interest paid of $2.0 million was expensed during the 
year ended December 31, 2013 (2012: $Nil).

As the convertible notes are denominated in Canadian dollars and the Company’s functional currency has been determined to 
be U.S. dollars, the convertible notes do not qualify as a compound financial instrument. Hence, the Company considers the 
conversion feature to be an embedded derivative that is not closely related to the convertible notes and has separated the 
embedded conversion feature which is measured as a recurring fair value measurement at fair value through profit and loss 
(refer to Note 14 “Derivative financial liabilities”).

The Company has expensed interest costs associated with long term debt as financing costs within the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss while in the E&E stage of operations.

14. derivative financial liaBilitieS

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year – –

Fair value attributed upon issuance of convertible notes $ 28,329 –

Unrealized (gain) due to change in fair value (15,816) –

Balance, end of year $ 12,513 –

Derivative financial liabilities relate to the fair value of the convertible feature embedded within the Canadian denominated 
convertible notes that were issued in the second quarter of 2013 (also refer to Note 13 “Long term debt”).

The initial value of the equity conversion component was calculated to be $28.3 million, utilizing a valuation method specific 
to convertible notes based on a partial differential equation method. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the derivative 
financial liabilities are recorded within the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. As at the reporting date, the fair 
value of the derivative financial liabilities was recalculated using the same valuation method utilizing a risk-free rate of 1.39 
percent, a credit spread of 16.7 percent, a share price of Cdn$0.97 per common share, historical volatility of 45.3 percent 
and a dividend yield of Nil. 

As at the reporting date, had the Company’s share price changed by $0.05 per common share the calculated fair value of 
the derivative financial liabilities would have increased by approximately $2.1 million (i.e. share price of $1.02 per common 
share) or decreased by approximately $1.6 million (i.e. share price of $0.92 per common share), with a corresponding 
change to non-cash derivatives liabilities gain (loss).

15. proviSion for decommiSSioning oBligationS

Decommissioning liabilities are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of obligation can be made. Provisions are made for the present value of the future cost of abandonment of  
oil and gas wells and related facilities. 

These costs are assumed to be incurred in 2039 in respect of well locations as at the reporting date. The Company’s share 
of the total undiscounted amount of estimated cash flow required to settle the obligation is $10.7 million (2012: $7.9 million). 
The Company has used the Bank of Canada long-term bond yield rate of 3.24 percent (2012: 2.36 percent) and an inflation 
rate of 2.76 percent (2012: 2.86 percent) to calculate the net present value of the future obligations. The decreased 
obligations in 2012 related to the assignment of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft which reduced the Company’s previously 
recognized 100 percent obligation to 50 percent for both Sarqala-1 and Mil Qasim-1. The changes in estimates during 2012 
related to certain anticipated additional abandonment activities required for Mil Qasim-1. The increased obligations during 
2013 related to the wells which spudded during 2013, including the Company’s 50 percent working interest for Hasira-1, 
Baram-1, and two Upper Bakhtiari wells, as well as the Company’s 60 percent working interest obligation for the Kurdamir-3 
well. The change in estimates during 2013 was from an increase in the Bank of Canada long-term bond rate which reduced 
the value of the decommissioning liabilities as at the reporting date. 
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The following table presents the reconciliation of the Company’s provision for decommissioning liabilities:

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 4,207 $ 1,728

Increase (decrease) in obligations 1,475 (647)

Changes in estimates or timing of cash flows (1,134) 3,072

Accretion 129 54

Balance, end of year $ 4,677 $ 4,207

16. taxation

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Current tax:

Recovery for the year $ (116) $ (697)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 37 7

Total current tax expense (recovery) $ (79) $ (690)

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences – current year $ (206) $ 30

Total deferred tax expense $ (206) $ 30

Total taxation expense (recovery) $ (285) $ (660)

Income tax expense (recovery) differs from that which would be expected from applying the combined statutory Canadian 
federal and provincial tax rate of 25.0 percent (2012: 25.0 percent) due to the following:

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Net loss before taxation  $ (2,317) $ (10,947)

Statutory tax rate 25.0% 25.0%

Taxation (recovery) at statutory tax rate (579) (2,737)

Reconciling items:

Losses in foreign jurisdiction with no tax benefit 929 401

Stock-based compensation 733 585

Adjustments in respect of prior years 5 7

Non-taxable portion of capital gain (362) –

Non-taxable portion of fair value change - embedded derivative (1,901) –

Impact of issuance costs not included in loss before taxation (351) (109)

Effect of carrying back losses at a higher year tax rate (7) (38)

Non-deductible expense 12 12

Current year loss not recognized as a deferred tax asset 1,240 1,211

Other (4) 8

Total taxation (recovery)  $ (285) $ (660)

The analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

deferred income tax liabilities as at december 31 2013 2012

To be recovered within 12 months – –

To be recovered after more than 12 months – $ 206

Total deferred income tax liability – $ 206
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The deferred income tax liability is comprised of:

deferred income tax liability as at december 31 2013 2012

Temporary differences on property, plant and equipment – $ 206

Non-capital loss carry-forwards – –

Total deferred income tax liability – $ 206

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The Company has not recorded deferred tax assets in respect of the following temporary differences:

temporary differences december 31 2013 2012

Non-capital loss carry-forwards $ 8,573 $ 5,249

Share issue costs 4,456 2,145

Total temporary differences $ 13,029 $ 7,394

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had a $3.4 million non-capital loss carry-forward from the current tax year and a 
$5.2 million non-capital loss carry-forward from the prior tax year, both of which would be available to offset against future 
taxable income. These losses will expire on between December 31, 2031 and December 31, 2033.

17. Share capital

As at December 31, 2013, the Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited 
number of preferred shares, issuable in series. The common shares are without nominal or par value.

The common shares issued and outstanding were as follows: 

Number  
of shares

 
Amount

Balance as at January 1, 2012 371,209,472 $  341,681 

Issuance of common shares, net of costs 40,714,286  57,407 

Options exercised for common shares 177,067 152 

Balance December 31, 2012 412,100,825 399,240

Issuance of common shares, net of costs 62,431,422 $  75,085 

Options exercised for common shares 566,899 464 

Balance December 31, 2013 475,099,146 $  474,789 

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company completed two private placements of common shares. The first was a 
non-brokered private placement with Crest of 51 million common shares of the Company at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common 
share for gross proceeds of $62.4 million. The Company also completed a second private placement of 11,431,422 common 
shares of the Company at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of $14.1 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement with Crest of 40,714,286 
common shares of the Company at a price of Cdn$1.40 per common share for total gross proceeds of $57.4 million. 

18. Share BaSed paymentS

Pursuant to the stock option plan, the Board of Directors may grant options to directors, officers, employees and other service 
providers. The aggregate number of shares that may be reserved for issuance pursuant to stock options may not exceed 10 
percent of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis as at the time of granting. Stock 
options expire not more than five years from the date of grant, or earlier if the individual ceases to be associated with the 
Company, and the option vesting period is determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors when granted. These options 
are equity settled share based payment transactions.
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The following tables present the reconciliation of stock options granted:

for the year ended december 31, 2012
Number  

of options

Weighted 
average exercise  

price ($Cdn)

Outstanding, beginning of year 18,778,700 $ 0.97 

Granted 8,129,000 0.76

Exercised (177,067) 0.53

Forfeited and expired (542,383) 0.69

Outstanding, end of year 26,188,250 $ 0.91 

Exercisable at December 31, 2012 20,255,570 $ 0.96 

for the year ended december 31, 2013
Number  

of options

Weighted 
average exercise  

price ($Cdn)

Outstanding, beginning of year 26,188,250 $ 0.91 

Granted 6,149,000 1.14

Exercised (566,899) 0.54

Forfeited and expired (5,438,335) 2.04

Outstanding, end of year 26,332,016 $ 0.74 

Exercisable at December 31, 2013 17,439,584 $ 0.60 

The fair value of all options granted have been estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
and are summarized in the following table: 

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Weighted average fair value of stock options granted $0.59 $0.44 

Average Risk Free Interest Rate 1.17% 1.15%

Expected Life 3 years 3 years

Average Expected Volatility 80% 94%

Dividend Per Share nil Nil

The average expected volatility used to estimate the fair value of options granted has been based on the Company’s actual 
three-year historical share volatility (WZR.V). In addition, the estimated forfeiture rate used in the calculation of share-based 
payment expense during the year ended December 31, 2013, was 6 percent (2012: 9 percent) and was based on the actual 
three-year historical forfeiture rate for unvested options.

The following table summarizes Stock Options outstanding and exercisable under the Stock Option Plan at December 31, 2012:

options outstanding options exercisable

Range of 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Exercisable

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

$ 0.38 - $0.49 9,183,500 2.97 0.49 9,131,500 2.97 0.49

 $ 0.50 - $1.00 11,529,750 3.19 0.68 5,899,070 2.30 0.63

 $ 1.01 - $2.00 505,000 2.86 1.30 255,000 0.94 1.43

$ 2.01 - $3.28 4,970,000 0.10 2.17 4,970,000 0.10 2.17

Total 26,188,250 2.52 0.91 20,255,570 2.05 0.96
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The following table summarizes Stock Options outstanding and exercisable under the Stock Option Plan at December 31, 2013:

options outstanding options exercisable

Range of 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Exercisable

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

$ 0.38 - $0.50 8,841,600 1.94 0.49 8,805,600 1.93 0.49

$ 0.51 - $0.75 10,321,416 2.20 0.67 7,875,652 1.91 0.65

$ 0.76 - $1.00 975,000 3.56 0.91 349,999 3.41 0.90

$ 1.01 - $1.25 5,869,000 4.08 1.14 83,333 3.81 1.17

$ 1.26 - $3.28 325,000 0.39 1.82 325,000 0.39 1.82

Total 26,332,016 2.56 0.74 17,439,584 1.94 0.60

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized $1.9 million (2012: $1.4 million) of share based 
compensation costs as general and administrative expense and capitalized $1.0 million (2012: $1.0 million).

19. general and adminiStrative expenSeS, By nature

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Staff expenses $ 9,392 $ 7,383 

Share-based payments 1,926 1,374 

Travel expenses 934 1,134 

Professional fees 5,880 3,999 

Office costs 2,139 1,272 

Regulatory and corporate project costs 578 805 

Other administrative expenses 546 430 

Less capitalized general and administrative costs (8,717) (5,394)

Total administrative expenses $ 12,678 $ 11,003

Key management personnel have been identified as the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Team. Details  
of key management remuneration are shown in Note 20 “Related party transactions and balances.”

20. related party tranSactionS and BalanceS

All wholly-owned subsidiaries as listed in Note 3(B) have been included in the consolidated accounts. 

The remuneration of the sixteen key management personnel of the Company, which includes the Directors and Officers  
and other Executive Management personnel, is set out below in aggregate:

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Salaries and wages $ 3,223 $ 2,963 

Short-term benefits 67 64

Share-based compensation (expensed)  1,642  1,169 

Share-based compensation (capitalized) 437 449

Total $ 5,369 $ 4,645 

As at the reporting date, there is a $3.6 million commitment (December 31, 2012: $1.6 million) relating to change of control 
or termination of employment without just cause for key management personnel.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements / 61



21. loSS per Share, BaSic and diluted

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of common shares issued during the period. In computing diluted per share amounts, all of the Company’s options at 
the reporting date totaling 26,332,016 (2012: 26,188,250) have been excluded as they are anti-dilutive. Accordingly no 
additional common shares were added to the basic weighted average shares outstanding to account for dilution. There was  
no dilutive impact from the convertible notes as at the reporting date.

The basic and diluted loss per share was calculated as follows:

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Loss for the period $ 2,032 $ 10,287 

Weighted-average common shares (000’s) 461,408 387,316

Loss per share (basic and diluted) $ – $ 0.03 

22. Shareholder rightS plan

On October 18, 2007, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan (the “Plan”) which was reconfirmed in 2010 and 
extended by amendment on June 6, 2013. Under the Plan, one right has been issued in respect of each currently issued 
common share and one right will be issued with each additional common share which is issued. The rights remain attached to 
the common shares and are not exercisable or separable unless one or more of certain specified events occur. If a person or 
group acting in concert acquires 20 percent or more of the common shares of the Company, the rights will entitle the holders 
thereof (other than the acquiring person or group) to purchase common shares at a substantial discount from the then market 
price. The rights are not triggered by a “Permitted Bid” as defined in the Plan. The Plan will remain in effect until termination  
of the annual meeting of shareholders in 2016, unless extended by resolution of the shareholders at such meeting.

23. Supplemental caSh flow information 

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets are comprised of:

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets $ (131,595) $ (106,241)

Change in non-cash investing working capital  6,920  12,079 

$ (124,675) $ (94,162)

Changes in non-cash working capital is comprised of:

for the years ended december 31 2013 2012

related to operating activities

Trade and other receivables $ (409) $ (41)

Prepaid expenses 351 (96)

Trade and other payables $ (225) 634 

$ (283) $ 497 

related to investing activities

Trade and other receivables $ 248 $ (91)

Prepaid expenses (155) (877)

Trade and other payables 6,827 13,047 

$ 6,920 $ 12,079 

24. commitmentS and contingencieS

A. PSC commitments

WesternZagros holds two PSCs with the KRG in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs each govern a 
separate contract area. The Garmian contract area is operated by WesternZagros. The Company holds a 40 percent interest in 
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the Garmian PSC, the KRG holds a 20 percent interest and the remaining 40 percent working interest is held by Gazprom Neft. 
The Kurdamir contract area is operated by Talisman with a 40 percent working interest, WesternZagros holds a 40 percent 
working interest and the KRG holds a 20 percent working interest.

The contracting party to the Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs is WesternZagros Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company. In accordance with the terms of the PSCs, there are certain restrictions, mainly related to obtaining the KRG’s  
prior consent, on the ability of the wholly-owned subsidiary to sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of all or part of  
the rights, obligations and interests under each of the PSCs, or where there is a change in control for the wholly-owned 
subsidiary itself. 

WesternZagros has completed its PSC exploration commitments, which are summarized as follows:

kurdamir pSc garmian pSc

First Exploration Sub-Period 
(completed)

August 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Exploration Obligation Kurdamir-2 (completed) Mil Qasim-1 Exploration Well (completed)

Second Exploration Sub-Period Additional Two Years Additional Two Years

Exploration Obligation Kurdamir-3 (completed) Baram-1 (completed)

Other Extensions Six Month Extension One Year Extension

Work commitments One well Three wells (extension not pursued by 
the co-venturers)

PSC Payments (Exploration) Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil.  
$1.1 million annual payments.

Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil.  
$0.6 million annual payments.

Operator Talisman WesternZagros(1)

Ownership WesternZagros 40% WesternZagros 40%

Talisman 40% Gazprom Neft 40%

KRG 20%(2) KRG 20%(2)

(1) Pursuant to the terms of the Garmian PSC, at the end of the Exploration Period, operatorship is to transition from WesternZagros to Gazprom Neft, with the parties 
anticipating the transfer of operatorship to be completed by December 31, 2014.

(2) WesternZagros funds 100 percent of the KRG costs on the Kurdamir Block and 50 percent of the KRG costs on the Garmian Block, ultimately to be recovered by 
WesternZagros through the KRG’s share of Cost Recovery Oil. 

The Company is currently in the second exploration sub-period of the Kurdamir PSC. The Kurdamir-3 well and the Kurdamir seismic 
program carried out in 2013 have satisfied the Company’s minimum obligations relating to the second exploration sub-period under 
the Kurdamir PSC. The Company has committed to expenditures of approximately $19 million, under approved AFE’s, to meet its 60 
percent funding requirement related to planned Kurdamir Block activities, which includes the Company’s portion of extended well 
testing costs for Kurdamir-2, future well planning and long leads, other appraisal activities, development planning and the 
associated supervision and local office support costs for Kurdamir Block activities to December 31, 2014. 

The Company has concluded the second exploration sub-period of the Garmian PSC with the completion of drilling and testing 
activities at Baram-1. The Company, along with its co-venturers, submitted a DoC to the KRG on December 23, 2013 for the Sarqala 
discovery. The KRG has accepted the DoC and, accordingly, the development period of the Garmian PSC commences effective 
December 23, 2013. As per the Garmian PSC, within 180 days (i.e. June 21, 2014) the Company and its co-venturers are required to 
submit to the KRG a development plan outlining how the field and other discoveries on the Garmian Block will be developed, 
including future development wells, production facilities and other support infrastructure.

The Company, Gazprom Neft and the KRG have agreed that no further exploration commitments are required on the Garmian Block 
beyond completion and testing activities at Hasira-1. The parties have agreed on the production areas to be retained under the 
development plan for Sarqala, with the remainder of the acreage of the Garmian Block returned to the KRG.

B. Other commitments

The Company has entered into various contracts, including contracts for drilling equipment, services and other tangible 
equipment. The following table summarizes the Company’s portion of estimated commitments in relation to these contracts 
relating to the Garmian Block operations and other contractual obligations at December 31, 2013 (U.S. $000’s):
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for the  
years ending 
december 31 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018+ Total

Drilling rigs $ 12,000 $ 8,000 – – – $ 20,000 

Equipment and 
services

8,700 – – – – 8,700

Office 1,060 1,240 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 – 4,800

$ 21,760 $ 9,240 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 – $ 33,500 

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company executed a two-year drilling contract for two rigs for which the Company’s 
portion of the minimum commitment amount has been included in the table above. In respect of the drilling contract, the 
Company has placed as security its portion of a deposit held in trust of $20 million.

C. Contingencies

i. Litigation

From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal or administrative proceedings in the normal conduct of business. 
The Company is currently in an arbitration proceeding under the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules with a former contractor who cannot 
be named as the arbitration proceeding is confidential. The proceeding is in relation to a consulting contract that the Company and 
the contractor agreed to terminate in 2011 for $7.5 million, which amount has been recognized in the financial statements. On 
October 20, 2011, WesternZagros was provided with a notice of arbitration from the contractor challenging the validity of the 
termination agreement and seeking additional compensation for the termination of the contract. The parties have completed the 
first phase of arbitration hearings in respect of the validity of the termination agreement pursuant to which the arbitration panel 
found in favour of the contractor and are now proceeding into the next phase of hearings where the contractor is seeking damages 
for wrongful termination of the contract. The Company believes that the quantum of damages sought by the contractor, which is 
significantly higher than the original amount agreed to, is without merit based on its analysis of the dispute and including the fact 
that the arbitration panel stated in its finding in the first phase of the arbitration hearings that “a Party claiming that this value 
should be significantly different from the value that the Parties themselves attributed to it at the time (i.e. $7.5 million) should have a 
good reason to do so”. However, given that the second phase of the hearings has not yet taken place, there is no certainty as to the 
quantum of damages which may be awarded by the arbitration panel. 

ii. Regulatory

Oil and gas operations are subject to extensive controls and regulations imposed by various levels of government that may  
be amended from time to time. The Company’s operations may require licenses and permits from various governmental 
authorities in the countries in which it operates. Under the Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs, the KRG is obligated to assist in 
obtaining all permits and licenses from any government agencies in the Kurdistan Region and from any other government 
administration in Iraq. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits 
that may be required to carry out exploration and development of its projects.

The political and security situation in Iraq is unsettled and volatile. The Kurdistan Region is the only “Region” of Iraq that is 
constitutionally established pursuant to the Iraq Constitution, which expressly recognizes the Kurdistan Region. The political 
issues of federalism and the autonomy of the Regions of Iraq are matters about which there are major differences between the 
various political factions in Iraq. These differences could adversely impact the Company’s interest in the Kurdistan Region 
including the ability to export any hydrocarbons as a result of our activities.
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